THE LEE-YANG AND PÓLYA-SCHUR PROGRAMS. II. THEORY OF STABLE POLYNOMIALS AND APPLICATIONS

JULIUS BORCEA AND PETTER BRÄNDÉN

ABSTRACT. In the first part of this series we characterized all linear operators on spaces of multivariate polynomials preserving the property of being non-vanishing in products of open circular domains. For such sets this completes the multivariate generalization of the classification program initiated by Pólya-Schur for univariate real polynomials. We build on these classification theorems to develop here a theory of multivariate stable polynomials. Applications and examples show that this theory provides a natural framework for dealing in a uniform way with Lee-Yang type problems in statistical mechanics, combinatorics, and geometric function theory in one or several variables. In particular, we answer a question of Hinkkanen on multivariate apolarity.

Contents

Introduction	2
A. Theory of Multivariate C-Stable Polynomials	4
1. Symmetrization Procedures	4
2. The Grace-Walsh-Szegö Coincidence Theorem	8
3. Master Composition Theorems	9
4. Hard Pólya-Schur Theory: Bounded Degree Multiplier Sequences	12
5. Multivariate Apolarity	16
6. Hard Lieb-Sokal Lemmas	19
7. Transcendental Symbols and the Weyl Algebra	20
B. Applications	21
8. Recovering Lee-Yang and Heilmann-Lieb Type Theorems	22
8.1. Newman's Theorem and the Lieb-Sokal Approach	23
8.2. The Schur-Hadamard Product and Convolution	24
8.3. Asano Contractions	26
8.4. Multi-Affine Part and Folding mod 2	26
8.5. Generalizations of the Heilmann-Lieb Theorem	27
9. Appendix	28
Acknowledgments	29
References	30

2000 Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary: 47B38; Secondary: 05A15, 05C70, 30C15, 32A60, 46E22, 82B20, 82B26.

Key words and phrases. Phase transitions, Lee-Yang theory, Pólya-Schur theory, linear operators, polarization, stable polynomials, graph polynomials, symmetrization, apolarity, multiplier sequences.

The first author was partially supported by the Swedish Research Council and the Crafoord Foundation. The second author was partially supported by the Göran Gustafsson Foundation.

J. BORCEA AND P. BRÄNDÉN

INTRODUCTION

In two seminal papers from 1952 [30, 61] Lee and Yang proposed the program of analyzing phase transitions in terms of zeros of the partition function and proved a celebrated theorem locating the zeros of the partition function of the ferromagnetic Ising model on the imaginary axis in the complex magnetic plane. This theorem has since been proved and generalized in many ways by e.g. Asano, Fisher, Newman, Ruelle, Lieb-Sokal, Biskup *et al*, etc; see §8 and references therein. Nevertheless, the Lee-Yang theorem seems to have retained an aura of mystique. In his 1988 Gibbs lecture [48] Ruelle proclaimed: "I have called this beautiful result a failure because, while it has important applications in physics, it remains at this time isolated in mathematics." Ruelle's statement was apparently motivated by the fact that the Lee-Yang theorem also inspired speculations about possible statistical mechanics models underlying the zeros of Riemann or Selberg zeta functions and the Weil conjectures [25, 36, 48] but "the miracle has not happened" [48].

Recently, Lee-Yang like problems and techniques have appeared in various mathematical contexts such as combinatorics, complex analysis, matrix theory and probability theory [1, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 13, 14, 16, 21, 24, 25, 47, 56, 59]. The past decade has also been marked by important developments on other aspects of phase transitions, conformal invariance, percolation theory [27, 29, 55]. However, as Hinkkanen noted in [25], the power in the ideas behind the Lee-Yang theorem has not yet been fully exploited: "It seems that the theory of polynomials, linear in each variable, that do not have zeros in a given multidisk or a more general set, has a long way to go, and has so far unnoticed connections to various other concepts in mathematics."

In this paper we show that the Lee-Yang theorem and the mathematics around it are intimately connected with the dynamics of zero loci of multivariate polynomials under linear transformations and Problems 1–2 below. As we point out in §8, such connections have been implicitly noted in essentially all known proofs and extensions of the Lee-Yang theorem. For instance, Lieb and Sokal [32] reduced the at the time best Lee-Yang theorem, due to Newman [38], to the following statement: if $P, Q \in \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ are polynomials which are non-vanishing when all variables are in the open right half-plane, then the polynomial $P(\partial/\partial z_1, \ldots, \partial/\partial z_n)Q(z_1, \ldots, z_n)$ also has this property unless it is identically zero (Theorem 8.3). Thus, to better understand Lee-Yang type theorems one is naturally led to consider the problems of describing linear operators on polynomial spaces that preserve the property of being non-vanishing when the variables are in prescribed subsets of \mathbb{C}^n .

Let us formulate these problems explicitly as in [5]. Given an integer $n \ge 1$ and $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ we say that $f \in \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ is Ω -stable if $f(z_1, \ldots, z_n) \ne 0$ whenever $(z_1, \ldots, z_n) \in \Omega$. A K-linear operator $T: V \to \mathbb{K}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$, where $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$ or \mathbb{C} and V is a subspace of $\mathbb{K}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$, is said to preserve Ω -stability if for any Ω -stable polynomial $f \in V$ the polynomial T(f) is either Ω -stable or $T(f) \equiv 0$. For $\kappa = (\kappa_1, \ldots, \kappa_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$ let $\mathbb{K}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] = \{f \in \mathbb{K}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] : \deg_{z_i}(f) \le \kappa_i, 1 \le i \le n\}$, where $\deg_{z_i}(f)$ is the degree of f in z_i . By slight abuse of terminology, if $\Psi \subset \mathbb{C}$ and $\Omega = \Psi^n$ then Ω -stable polynomials will also be referred to as Ψ -stable.

Problem 1. Characterize all linear operators $T : \mathbb{K}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] \to \mathbb{K}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ that preserve Ω -stability for a given set $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ and $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}^n$.

Problem 2. Characterize all linear operators $T : \mathbb{K}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] \to \mathbb{K}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ that preserve Ω -stability, where Ω are prescribed subsets of \mathbb{C}^n . In physics [54, 56] it is useful to distinguish between hard-core pair interactions (subject to constraints, e.g. the maximum degree of a graph) and soft-core pair interactions (essentially constraint-free). By analogy with this dichotomy, one may say that results pertaining to Problem 1 are "hard" or "algebraic" (bounded degree) while those for Problem 2 are "soft" or "transcendental" (unbounded degree), cf. [5].

For n = 1, $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$, and $\Omega = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : \text{Im}(z) > 0\}$ Problems 1–2 amount to classifying linear operators that preserve the set of real polynomials with all real zeros. This question has a distinguished history that goes back to Hermite, Laguerre, Hurwitz and Pólya-Schur, see [9] and references therein. In particular, in [41] Pólya and Schur characterized all diagonal operators with this property, which led to a rich subsequent literature on this subject [6, 8, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 26, 31, 35, 40, 43, 52]. However, it was not until very recently that full solutions to this question – and, more generally, to Problems 1–2 for n = 1 and any open circular domain Ω – were obtained in [6]. Quite recently, Problems 1–2 were solved in [5] whenever $\Omega = \Omega_1 \times \cdots \times \Omega_n$ and the Ω_i 's are open circular domains. For such sets these results complete the multivariate generalization of the classification program initiated by Pólya-Schur [41]. They also go beyond e.g. [6, 8] and have interesting consequences, as we will now see.

In Part A we build on the classification theorems of [5] to develop a self-contained theory of multivariate stable polynomials. To begin with, in §1 we study operators on multi-affine polynomials inspired by natural time evolutions (symmetric exclusion processes) for interacting particle systems [34]. We give a new simple proof of [10, Theorem 4.20] (see also [33]) stating that these operators preserve stability and extend it to all circular domains. In §2 we use these symmetrization procedures to give a new proof of the Grace-Walsh-Szegö coincidence theorem that unlike most proofs known so far avoids (univariate) apolarity theory. In §3 we establish a "master composition theorem" that extends to several variables all the classical Hadamard-Schur convolution results due to Schur-Maló-Szegö, Walsh, Cohn-Egerváry-Szegö, de Bruijn, etc [17, 35, 43]. This also generalizes the multivariate composition theorems based on the Weyl product [8] as well as Hinkkanen's theorem [25] and provides a unifying framework for results of this type. In §4 we obtain "hard" multivariate generalizations of Pólya-Schur's classification of multiplier sequences that extend the "soft" theorems of [8].

As noted in [44], the concept of apolarity has a rich pedigree going all the way back to Apollonius and was much studied in invariant theory, umbral calculus, and algebraic geometry [28, 53]. In [44] Rota adds: "Grace's [apolarity] theorem is an instance of what might be called a sturdy theorem. For almost one hundred years it has resisted all attempts at generalization. Almost all known results about the distribution of zeros of [univariate] polynomials in the complex plane are corollaries of Grace's theorem." In §5 we establish Grace type theorems for multivariate polynomials and provide an answer to a question of Hinkkanen [25, §5]. In §6 we prove "hard" Lieb-Sokal lemmas that sharpen the "soft" ones in [32] (whose importance in the Lee-Yang program is explained in §8.1.)

In Part B we study statistical mechanical and combinatorial applications of the theory of stable polynomials developed in Part A and [5]. We show that the key steps in existing proofs and extensions of the Lee-Yang and Heilmann-Lieb theorems as well as various other theorems on graph polynomials follow in a simple and unified

J. BORCEA AND P. BRÄNDÉN

manner from this theory. These results are due to Asano [2], Ruelle [45, 46, 51], Newman [37, 38], Lieb-Sokal [32], Hinkkanen [25], Choe et al [16], Wagner [59].

A. Theory of Multivariate C-Stable Polynomials

Let us first fix some of the notation that we will use throughout. Recall that the support of a polynomial $f(z) = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n} a(\alpha) z^{\alpha} \in \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ is the set $\sup(f) = \{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n : a(\alpha) \neq 0\}$, where $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n$, $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$, and $z^{\alpha} = z_1^{\alpha_1} \cdots z_n^{\alpha_n}$. Set $[n] = \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and $(1^n) = (1, \ldots, 1) \in \mathbb{N}^n$. We say that f is of degree at most $\kappa = (\kappa_1, \ldots, \kappa_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$ if $f \in \mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ (cf. the introduction) and of degree κ if $\deg_{z_i}(f) = \kappa_i$, $i \in [n]$. Polynomials in $\mathbb{C}_{(1^n)}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ are called *multi-affine*.

We employ the usual partial order on \mathbb{N}^n : if $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$ and $\beta = (\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$ then $\alpha \leq \beta$ if $\alpha_i \leq \beta_i$ for all $i \in [n]$. Let $|\alpha| = \alpha_1 + \ldots + \alpha_n$, $\alpha! = \alpha_1! \cdots \alpha_n!$, and

$$\binom{\beta}{\alpha} = \begin{cases} \frac{\beta!}{\alpha!(\beta-\alpha)!} & \text{if } \alpha \leq \beta, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

The open unit disk is denoted by \mathbb{D} and open half-planes bordering on the origin by $\mathbb{H}_{\theta} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : \operatorname{Im}(e^{i\theta}z) > 0\}$, where $\theta \in [0, 2\pi)$. Note that \mathbb{H}_0 is the open upper half-plane while $\mathbb{H}_{\frac{\pi}{2}}$ is the open right half-plane. \mathbb{H}_0 -stable polynomials are referred to as *stable* polynomials and those with all real coefficients are called *real stable*, cf. [5]–[10]. We denote the sets of stable, respectively real stable polynomials in n variables by $\mathcal{H}_n(\mathbb{C})$, respectively $\mathcal{H}_n(\mathbb{R})$. Polynomials in $\mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ which are $\mathbb{H}_{\frac{\pi}{2}}$ -stable are said to be *weakly Hurwitz stable*. In [16] these are termed polynomials with the *half-plane property*. The notions of \mathbb{H}_{θ} -stability are equivalent modulo rotations for complex polynomials but this is not so for real polynomials. However, for real polynomials with non-negative coefficients [10, Theorem 4.5] yields the following hierarchy of half-plane properties: if such a polynomial is \mathbb{H}_0 -stable then it is \mathbb{H}_{θ} -stable for any $\theta \in [0, \pi]$.

1. Symmetrization Procedures

The symmetric group on n elements, \mathfrak{S}_n , acts on $\mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ by permuting the variables: $\sigma(f)(z_1, \ldots, z_n) = f(z_{\sigma(1)}, \ldots, z_{\sigma(n)}), \sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n, f \in \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$. Define the symmetrization operator Sym : $\mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] \to \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ by

$$\operatorname{Sym}(f) = \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n} \sigma(f).$$

Clearly, Sym is a linear operator whose image consists of symmetric polynomials, that is, polynomials invariant under the action of \mathfrak{S}_n .

Recall that a *circular domain* in \mathbb{C} is any open or closed disk, exterior of a disk, or half-plane. The Grace-Walsh-Szegö coincidence theorem is an important and very useful result on the geometry of polynomials, see, e.g., [16, 22, 35, 43, 60].

Theorem 1.1 (Grace-Walsh-Szegö). Let $f \in \mathbb{C}_{(1^n)}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ be a symmetric polynomial, C be an open or closed circular domain, and $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n \in C$. Suppose further that either the total degree of f equals n or that C is convex (or both). Then there exists at least one point $\xi \in C$ such that

$$f(\xi_1, \dots, \xi_n) = f(\xi, \dots, \xi).$$
 (1.1)

This theorem was essential for proving the sufficiency part of the characterization of linear operators preserving C-stability in [5]. We will see here that Theorem 1.1 is actually a consequence of stronger (asymmetric) symmetrization procedures on stable polynomials which were used in [10] to prove correlation inequalities for symmetric exclusion processes. More precisely, we will deduce Theorem 1.1 from the following result.

Theorem 1.2. Let C be an open or closed circular domain.

- (a) If C is convex then the symmetrization operator Sym preserves C-stability on multi-affine polynomials, i.e., Sym : $\mathbb{C}_{(1^n)}[z_1,\ldots,z_n] \to \mathbb{C}_{(1^n)}[z_1,\ldots,z_n]$ preserves C-stability.
- (b) If C is non-convex and $f \in \mathbb{C}_{(1^n)}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ is C-stable and such that all variables are active in f (i.e., $\partial f/\partial z_i \neq 0$, $i \in [n]$) then Sym(f) is C-stable.

Remark 1.1. If C is non-convex and $f \in \mathbb{C}_{(1^n)}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ is C-stable then the condition in Theorem 1.2 (b) that all variables are active is actually equivalent to the requirement that f has total degree n, i.e., $\partial^n f/\partial z_1 \cdots \partial z_n \neq 0$.

Remark 1.2. One can easily construct examples showing that Sym does not preserve C-stability when acting on arbitrary (not multi-affine) polynomials.

It is not difficult to prove Theorem 1.2 *assuming* the Grace-Walsh-Szegö theorem. However, in §2 we will prove the latter *via* Theorem 1.2. This will make the theory developed here and in [5] self-contained.

We will derive Theorem 1.2 from the next result which was first proved in [10, Theorem 4.20]. From a physical viewpoint [34], Proposition 1.3 implies that stability is preserved by the natural time evolution of symmetric exclusion processes.

Proposition 1.3. Let $f \in \mathbb{C}_{(1^n)}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$, C be an open or closed circular domain, $0 \le p \le 1$, and $\tau = (ij) \in \mathfrak{S}_n$ be a transposition.

- (a) If C is convex and f is C-stable then so is $pf + (1-p)\tau(f)$.
- (b) If C is non-convex and f is C-stable and depending on both z_i and z_j then $pf + (1-p)\tau(f)$ is also C-stable.

Our proof of Proposition 1.3 relies on the maximum principle for harmonic functions which we use to prove the following lemma. Another recent elementary proof of Proposition 1.3 was independently given in [33]. Let $\overline{\mathbb{H}}_0$ be the closed upper half-plane.

Lemma 1.4. Let $f(z, w) = a + bz + cw + dzw \in \mathbb{C}[z, w]$ and define

$$V_1(f)(x) = \operatorname{Im}(a\bar{c}) + \operatorname{Im}(a\bar{d} + b\bar{c})x + \operatorname{Im}(b\bar{d})x^2,$$

$$V_2(f)(x) = \operatorname{Im}(a\bar{b}) + \operatorname{Im}(a\bar{d} + c\bar{b})x + \operatorname{Im}(c\bar{d})x^2.$$

Suppose that $d \neq 0$.

- (1) If f is $\overline{\mathbb{H}}_0$ -stable then $\operatorname{Im}(b/d) > 0$ or $\operatorname{Im}(c/d) > 0$.
- (2) If f is $\overline{\mathbb{H}}_0$ -stable and $\operatorname{Im}(c/d) > 0$ then $V_1(f)(x) > 0$ and $V_2(f)(x) \ge 0$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$.
- (3) If f is $\overline{\mathbb{H}}_0$ -stable and $\operatorname{Im}(b/d) > 0$ then $V_2(f)(x) > 0$ and $V_1(f)(x) \ge 0$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$.
- (4) If $\operatorname{Im}(b/d) > 0$ and $\operatorname{Im}(c/d) > 0$ then f is $\overline{\mathbb{H}}_0$ -stable if and only if for some (and then any) $i \in \{1, 2\}$ one has $V_i(f)(x) > 0$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$.

Proof. Since the partial derivative of a \mathbb{H}_0 -stable polynomial is \mathbb{H}_0 -stable or identically zero (if in doubt apply Theorem 3.1) we have $\operatorname{Im}(c/d) \ge 0$ and $\operatorname{Im}(b/d) \ge 0$ if f is $\overline{\mathbb{H}}_0$ -stable. If $\operatorname{Im}(c/d) = \operatorname{Im}(b/d) = 0$ then the polynomial $d^{-1}f(z-c/d, w-b/d) = wz + (ad - bc)/d^2$ is $\overline{\mathbb{H}}_0$ -stable. This is a contradiction since $\{wz : w, z \in \overline{\mathbb{H}}_0\} = \mathbb{C}$. Hence $\operatorname{Im}(c/d) > 0$ or $\operatorname{Im}(b/d) > 0$ if f is $\overline{\mathbb{H}}_0$ -stable.

Assume that Im(b/d) > 0 and Im(c/d) > 0. Solving for w in f(z, w) = 0 we see that f is $\overline{\mathbb{H}}_0$ -stable if and only if

$$\operatorname{Im}(z) \ge 0 \implies \rho(z) := \operatorname{Im}\left(\frac{a+bz}{c+dz}\right) > 0.$$
 (1.2)

Now, ρ is a harmonic function in the half-plane $\{z \in \mathbb{C} : \operatorname{Im}(z) > -\operatorname{Im}(c/d)\}$ which contains $\overline{\mathbb{H}}_0$. Let $K_r = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : \operatorname{Im}(z) \ge 0, |z| \le r\}$. By the maximum principle the minimum of ρ on K_r is attained on the boundary of K_r . For real x we have

$$\rho(x) = \frac{\operatorname{Im}(a\bar{c}) + \operatorname{Im}(a\bar{d} + b\bar{c})x + \operatorname{Im}(b\bar{d})x^2}{|c + dx|^2}$$

Moreover, $\rho(z) \to \text{Im}(b/d) > 0$ as $z \to \infty$. Since the same arguments apply if one instead solves for z in f(z, w) = 0, this verifies (4).

If just $\operatorname{Im}(c/d) > 0$ we will still have $\rho(x) > 0$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$ and if only $\operatorname{Im}(b/d) > 0$ then $\rho(x) > 0$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{-c/d\}$. By symmetry in z and w this verifies (2) and (3) of the lemma. \Box

Recall the multivariate version of Hurwitz' theorem on the "continuity of zeros", cf. [16, Footnote 3, p. 96].

Theorem 1.5 (Hurwitz' theorem). Let D be a domain (open connected set) in \mathbb{C}^n and suppose $\{f_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ is a sequence of non-vanishing analytic functions on D that converge to f uniformly on compact subsets of D. Then f is either non-vanishing on D or else identically zero.

To deal with discs and exteriors of discs we also need Lemmas 1.6 and 1.8 below – which were proved in [5, Lemmas 6.1 and 6.2] – and Corollary 1.7.

Lemma 1.6. Let $\{C_i\}_{i=1}^n$ be a family of circular domains, $f \in \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ be of degree $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}^n$, and $J \subseteq [n]$ a (possibly empty) set such that C_j is the exterior of a disk whenever $j \in J$. Denote by g be the polynomial in the variables z_j , $j \in J$, obtained by setting $z_i = c_i \in C_i$ arbitrarily for $i \notin J$. If f is $C_1 \times \cdots \times C_n$ -stable then $\operatorname{supp}(g)$ has a unique maximal element γ with respect to the standard partial order on \mathbb{N}^J . Moreover, γ is the same for all choices of $c_i \in C_i$, $i \notin J$.

An immediate consequence of Lemma 1.6 is the following.

Corollary 1.7. Let $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}^n$ and $I_{\kappa} : \mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] \to \mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ be the linear operator defined by $I_{\kappa}(z^{\alpha}) = z^{\kappa-\alpha}$, $\alpha \leq \kappa$. Then I_{κ} restricts to a bijection between the set of \mathbb{D} -stable ($\overline{\mathbb{D}}$ -stable) polynomials in $\mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ and the set of $\mathbb{C} \setminus \overline{\mathbb{D}}$ -stable ($\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{D}$ -stable) polynomials in $\mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ of degree κ .

If $\{C_i\}_{i=1}^n$ is a family of circular domains and $\kappa = (\kappa_1, \ldots, \kappa_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$ we let $\mathcal{N}_{\kappa}(C_1, \ldots, C_n)$ be the set of $C_1 \times \cdots \times C_n$ -stable polynomials in $\mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ that have degree κ_j in z_j whenever C_j is non-convex. Note that if all C_j are convex then $\mathcal{N}_{\kappa}(C_1, \ldots, C_n)$ consists of all $C_1 \times \cdots \times C_n$ -stable polynomials in $\mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$.

Recall that a *Möbius transformation* is a bijective conformal map of the extended complex plane $\widehat{\mathbb{C}}$ given by

$$\phi(\zeta) = \frac{a\zeta + b}{c\zeta + d}, \quad a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{C}, ad - bc = 1.$$
(1.3)

Note that one usually has the weaker requirement $ad - bc \neq 0$ but this is equivalent to (1.3) which proves to be more convenient.

Lemma 1.8. Suppose that $C_1, \ldots, C_n, D_1, \ldots, D_n$ are open circular domains and $\kappa = (\kappa_1, \ldots, \kappa_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$. Then there are Möbius transformations

$$\zeta \mapsto \phi_i(\zeta) = \frac{a_i \zeta + b_i}{c_i \zeta + d_i}, \quad i \in [n],$$

as in (1.3) such that the (invertible) linear transformation $\Phi_{\kappa} : \mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] \to \mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ defined by

$$\Phi_{\kappa}(f)(z_1,\ldots,z_n) = (c_1 z_1 + d_1)^{\kappa_1} \cdots (c_n z_n + d_n)^{\kappa_n} f(\phi_1(z_1),\ldots,\phi_n(z_n))$$

restricts to a bijection between $\mathcal{N}_{\kappa}(C_1,\ldots,C_n)$ and $\mathcal{N}_{\kappa}(D_1,\ldots,D_n)$.

Proof of Proposition 1.3. Clearly, it is enough to prove the proposition for closed circular domains. Suppose first that C is the closed upper half-plane $\overline{\mathbb{H}}_0$ and let $f \in \mathbb{C}_{(1^n)}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ be $\overline{\mathbb{H}}_0$ -stable. Assuming, as we may, that i = 1 and j = 2, we need to prove that

$$pf(\xi_1,\xi_2,\ldots,\xi_n) + (1-p)f(\xi_2,\xi_1,\ldots,\xi_n) \neq 0$$

whenever $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n \in \overline{\mathbb{H}}_0$. By fixing ξ_3, \ldots, ξ_n arbitrarily in $\overline{\mathbb{H}}_0$ and considering the multi-affine polynomial in variables z_1, z_2 given by

$$(z_1, z_2) \mapsto g(z_1, z_2) := f(z_1, z_2, \xi_3, \dots, \xi_n)$$

we see that the problem reduces to proving that for any $p \in (0, 1)$ the polynomial pf(z, w) + (1 - p)f(w, z) is $\overline{\mathbb{H}}_0$ -stable provided that f(z, w) is $\overline{\mathbb{H}}_0$ -stable. This is easy to check if d = 0 so we may assume that $d \neq 0$. Now, if $\{i, j\} = \{1, 2\}$ then

$$V_i \Big(pf(z, w) + (1-p)f(w, z) \Big) = pV_i \Big(f(z, w) \Big) + (1-p)V_j \Big(f(z, w) \Big)$$

which proves the proposition for $C = \overline{\mathbb{H}}_0$ by Lemma 1.4 (since $p \in (0, 1)$ implies that we will be in case (4) of Lemma 1.4).

Let C be a closed disk and suppose that f is C-stable. Then by compactness f is \tilde{C} -stable for some open disk $\tilde{C} \supset C$. The result now follows by applying Lemma 1.8 (with $\kappa = (1^n)$, $C_{\ell} = \tilde{C}$, $D_{\ell} = D$, $\ell \in [n]$, where D is an arbitrarily fixed open half-plane) and using the fact the partial symmetrization operator commutes with the operator Φ_{κ} defined in Lemma 1.8.

The case of the closed exterior of a disk follows from the disk case considered above and Corollary 1.7 for $\kappa = (1^n)$ (cf. Remark 1.1).

In the theory of interacting particle systems [34] it is well known that the symmetrization of a polynomial f can be achieved by applying $f \mapsto (f + \tau(f))/2$ infinitely many times with different transpositions τ . For the sake of completeness, we will give a proof of this fact in the Appendix.

Proof of Theorem 1.2. Consider first the case when C is an open circular domain and recall Remark 1.1. Since Sym(f) is obtained by applying $f \mapsto (f + \tau(f))/2$ infinitely many times with different transpositions τ (see Lemma 9.2 below) the result follows from Hurwitz' Theorem 1.5 and Proposition 1.3.

If C is closed write

$$f(z,\ldots,z) = B \prod_{j=1}^{d} (z-c_j),$$

where $c_j \notin C$ for $j \in [d]$ and $B \neq 0$. Clearly, the polynomial $F(z_1, \ldots, z_n)$ defined by

$$F(z_1,\ldots,z_n) = B \prod_{j=1}^d (z_j - c_j)$$

is *D*-stable, where *D* is a suitable open circular domain containing *C* but none of the c_j 's. Then by the above Sym(F) is *D*-stable and since Sym(F) = Sym(f) the theorem follows.

2. The Grace-Walsh-Szegö Coincidence Theorem

Using Theorem 1.2 we can give a new proof of the Grace-Walsh-Szegö coincidence theorem that does not rely on apolarity theory as do most known proofs so far, see [22, 35, 43, 57, 60] and §5. We actually prove a more general version of this result which holds for families of circular domains.

Theorem 2.1. Suppose $f(z_{11}, \ldots, z_{1\kappa_1}, \ldots, z_{n1}, \ldots, z_{n\kappa_n})$ is a multi-affine polynomial in $|\kappa|$ complex variables which is symmetric in $\{z_{ij} : j \in [\kappa_i]\}$ for all $i \in [n]$, where $\kappa = (\kappa_1, \ldots, \kappa_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$ with $\kappa_i \ge 1$, $i \in [n]$. Let further C_i , $i \in [n]$, be circular domains and $\xi_{ij} \in C_i$, $j \in [\kappa_i]$, $i \in [n]$. Then there exist $\xi_i \in C_i$, $i \in [n]$, such that

$$f(\xi_{11},\ldots,\xi_{1\kappa_1},\ldots,\xi_{n1},\ldots,\xi_{n\kappa_n})=f(\xi_1,\ldots,\xi_1,\ldots,\xi_n,\ldots,\xi_n)$$

provided that f has total degree κ_i in $\{z_{ij} : j \in [\kappa_i]\}$ whenever C_i is non-convex.

Proof. Clearly, it is enough to prove that if the polynomial in n variables

$$g(z_1,\ldots,z_n):=f(z_1,\ldots,z_1,\ldots,z_n,\ldots,z_n)$$

is $C_1 \times \cdots \times C_n$ -stable then $f(z_{11}, \ldots, z_{1\kappa_1}, \ldots, z_{n1}, \ldots, z_{n\kappa_n})$ is $C_1^{\kappa_1} \times \cdots \times C_n^{\kappa_n}$ stable, which we will now do by considering one variable at a time. By assumption g has degree κ_i in the variable z_i whenever C_i is non-convex (symmetry prevents cancellation). Fix $\zeta_j \in C_j$, $j \in [n-1]$. The polynomial $h(z_n) := g(\zeta_1, \ldots, \zeta_{n-1}, z_n)$ is C_n -stable and we may therefore write

$$h(z_n) = B \prod_{j=1}^d (z_n - \alpha_j),$$

where $B \neq 0$ and $\alpha_j \notin C_i$ for $j \in [d]$, so the polynomial

$$H(w_1,\ldots,w_{\kappa_n}):=B\prod_{j=1}^d(w_j-\alpha_j)$$

is also C_n -stable. Now, if C_n is non-convex then by Lemma 1.6 one has $d = \kappa_n$ and by Theorem 1.2 the symmetrization operator Sym acting on κ_n variables maps \mathbb{H}_0 to a C_n -stable polynomial. Since the numbers ζ_i , $i \in [n-1]$, were arbitrary this means that the polarization of g that splits the variable z_n symmetrically into κ_n new variables, i.e., the linear operator

$$g(z_1,\ldots,z_n)\mapsto f(z_1,\ldots,z_1,\ldots,z_{n-1},\ldots,z_{n-1},z_{n-1},\ldots,z_{n\kappa_n})$$

preserves the stability in question. By polarizing one variable at a time we conclude that $f(z_{11}, \ldots, z_{1\kappa_1}, \ldots, z_{n1}, \ldots, z_{n\kappa_n})$ is $C_1^{\kappa_1} \times \cdots \times C_n^{\kappa_n}$ -stable.

Remark 2.1. In [47] Ruelle produced a proof of the Grace-Walsh-Szegö coincidence theorem (Theorem 1.1) using similar ideas.

Remark 2.2. A yet more general version of Theorem 2.1 was actually given by Walsh in [60, Theorem 1] without assuming any degree conditions, the only requirement in [60] being that C_i , $i \in [n]$, should be just (closed) circular domains. However, in such generality Walsh's aforementioned result fails already for n = 1.

3. MASTER COMPOSITION THEOREMS

Composition (or convolution) theorems such as the Schur-Maló-Szegö theorems ([17, Theorem 2.4], [43, Theorem 3.4.1d]), the Cohn-Egerváry-Szegö theorem ([43, Theorem 3.4.1d]), Walsh's theorems ([43, Theorems 3.4.2c and 5.3.1]) or de Bruijn's theorems [11, 12] play an important role in the analytic theory of univariate complex polynomials and allow to locate their zeros in certain circular domains [35, 43].

Using results of [5] we establish "master composition theorems" that provide a unifying framework for *multivariate* generalizations of the classical theorems mentioned above. Let us first recall two of the classification theorems from [5].

Theorem 3.1. Let $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}^n$, $T : \mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] \to \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ be a linear operator, and $C = \mathbb{H}_{\theta}$ for some $0 \leq \theta < 2\pi$. Then T preserves C-stability if and only if

- (a) T has range of dimension at most one and is of the form $T(f) = \alpha(f)P$, where α is a linear functional on $\mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ and P is a C-stable polynomial, or
- (b) The polynomial (in 2n variables)

$$T[(z+w)^{\kappa}] := \sum_{\alpha \le \kappa} \binom{\kappa}{\alpha} T(z^{\alpha}) w^{\kappa-\alpha}$$
(3.1)

is C-stable.

Remark 3.1. Theorem 3.1 trivially implies the following (well-known) multivariate Gauss-Lucas theorem: if $f \in \mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ is \mathbb{H}_{θ} -stable for some $0 \leq \theta < 2\pi$ then $\partial f/\partial z_i$ is \mathbb{H}_{θ} -stable or identically zero for any $i \in [n]$. More generally, the (n+1)-variable polynomial $f + z_{n+1}\partial f/\partial z_i$ is \mathbb{H}_{θ} -stable.

Theorem 3.2. Let $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}^n$, $T : \mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] \to \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ be a linear operator, and $C = \mathbb{D}$ or $\mathbb{H}_{\frac{\pi}{2}}$. Then T preserves C-stability if and only if

- (a) T has range of dimension at most one and is of the form $T(f) = \alpha(f)P$, where α is a linear functional on $\mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ and P is a C-stable polynomial, or
- (b) The polynomial (in 2n variables)

$$T[(1+zw)^{\kappa}] := \sum_{\alpha \le \kappa} \binom{\kappa}{\alpha} T(z^{\alpha}) w^{\alpha}$$
(3.2)

is C-stable.

The polynomials in (3.1) and (3.2) are called the *algebraic symbols* of T with respect to the circular domains under consideration (for $\mathbb{H}_{\frac{\pi}{2}}$ it is often more convenient – but equivalent – to choose (3.2) rather than (3.1), cf. [5, Remark 6.1]).

The main result of this section is as follows.

Theorem 3.3. Let $\kappa = (\kappa_1, \ldots, \kappa_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$, $f(u, v) \in \mathbb{C}[u_1, \ldots, u_n, v_1, \ldots, v_n]$, and $g(z, w) \in \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n, w_1, \ldots, w_n]$. Suppose that $\deg_{u_i}(f) \leq \kappa_i$ and $\deg_{z_i}(g) \leq \kappa_i$ for all $i \in [n]$.

(a) If f and g are \mathbb{H}_{θ} -stable for some $0 \leq \theta < 2\pi$, then the polynomial (in 4n variables)

$$\sum_{\alpha \leq \kappa} \frac{\partial^{\alpha} f}{\partial u^{\alpha}}(u, v) \cdot \frac{\partial^{\kappa - \alpha} g}{\partial z^{\kappa - \alpha}}(z, w)$$

is \mathbb{H}_{θ} -stable or identically zero.

(b) If f and g are \mathbb{H}_0 -stable, then the polynomial

$$\sum_{\alpha \le \kappa} (-1)^{\alpha} \frac{(\kappa - \alpha)!}{\alpha!} \cdot \frac{\partial^{\alpha} f}{\partial u^{\alpha}}(u, v) \cdot \frac{\partial^{\alpha} g}{\partial z^{\alpha}}(z, w)$$

is \mathbb{H}_0 -stable or identically zero.

(c) If f and g are \mathbb{D} -stable, then the polynomial

$$\sum_{\alpha \leq \kappa} \frac{(\kappa - \alpha)!}{\alpha!} \cdot \frac{\partial^{\alpha} f}{\partial u^{\alpha}}(0, v) \cdot \frac{\partial^{\alpha} g}{\partial z^{\alpha}}(z, w)$$

is \mathbb{D} -stable or identically zero.

Proof. We only prove (a) since the proofs of (b) and (c) are almost identical. Let $\gamma = (\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$ be fixed. Define a $\mathbb{C}[u_1, \ldots, w_n]$ -valued linear operator T on the space of all polynomials h in 4n variables u_1, \ldots, w_n satisfying $\deg_{u_j}(h) \leq \kappa_j$, $\deg_{v_j}(h) \leq \gamma_j$, $\deg_{z_j}(h) \leq \gamma_j$, and $\deg_{z_j}(h) \leq \gamma_j$ for all $j \in [n]$ by setting

$$T[h(u, v, z, w)] = \sum_{\alpha \le \kappa} \frac{\partial^{\alpha} h}{\partial u^{\alpha}} (u, v, z, w) \cdot \frac{\partial^{\kappa - \alpha} g}{\partial z^{\kappa - \alpha}} (z, w).$$

Let $\tilde{u} = (\tilde{u}_1, \ldots, \tilde{u}_n)$, $\tilde{v} = (\tilde{v}_1, \ldots, \tilde{v}_n)$, $\tilde{z} = (\tilde{z}_1, \ldots, \tilde{z}_n)$ and $\tilde{w} = (\tilde{w}_1, \ldots, \tilde{w}_n)$ be new sets of variables. The symbol of T with respect to \mathbb{H}_{θ} , that is,

$$T[(u+\tilde{u})^{\kappa}(v+\tilde{v})^{\gamma}(z+\tilde{z})^{\gamma}(w+\tilde{w})^{\gamma}]$$

= $(v+\tilde{v})^{\gamma}(z+\tilde{z})^{\gamma}(w+\tilde{w})^{\gamma}\sum_{\alpha\leq\kappa}\frac{\kappa!}{(\kappa-\alpha)!}(u+\tilde{u})^{\kappa-\alpha}\frac{\partial^{\kappa-\alpha}g}{\partial z^{\kappa-\alpha}}(z,w)$
= $\kappa!(v+\tilde{v})^{\gamma}(z+\tilde{z})^{\gamma}(w+\tilde{w})^{\gamma}g(z+u+\tilde{u},w)$

is clearly \mathbb{H}_{θ} -stable which proves (a) by Theorem 3.1 since $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}^n$ was arbitrary. \Box

An important special case of the above theorem is particularly attractive, as is its proof.

Corollary 3.4. Let $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}^n$ and $f, g \in \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n, w_1, \ldots, w_n]$ be of the form

$$f(z,w) = \sum_{\alpha \le \kappa} \binom{\kappa}{\alpha} P_{\alpha}(w) z^{\alpha}, \quad g(z,w) = \sum_{\alpha \le \kappa} \binom{\kappa}{\alpha} Q_{\alpha}(z) w^{\alpha},$$

where $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_n), w = (w_1, \ldots, w_n).$

(a) If f and g are \mathbb{H}_{θ} -stable for some $0 \leq \theta < 2\pi$, then so is the polynomial

$$\sum_{\alpha \le \kappa} \binom{\kappa}{\alpha} P_{\alpha}(w) Q_{\kappa-\alpha}(z) = \frac{1}{\kappa!} \sum_{\alpha \le \kappa} \frac{\partial^{\alpha} f}{\partial z^{\alpha}}(0, w) \cdot \frac{\partial^{\kappa-\alpha} g}{\partial w^{\kappa-\alpha}}(z, 0)$$

unless it is identically zero.

(b) If f and g are \mathbb{H}_0 -stable, then so is the polynomial

$$\sum_{\alpha \le \kappa} (-1)^{\alpha} \binom{\kappa}{\alpha} P_{\alpha}(w) Q_{\alpha}(z) = \frac{1}{\kappa!} \sum_{\alpha \le \kappa} (-1)^{\alpha} \frac{(\kappa - \alpha)!}{\alpha!} \cdot \frac{\partial^{\alpha} f}{\partial z^{\alpha}}(0, w) \cdot \frac{\partial^{\alpha} g}{\partial w^{\alpha}}(z, 0)$$

unless it is identically zero.

(c) If f and g are \mathbb{D} -stable, then so is the polynomial

$$\sum_{\alpha \le \kappa} \binom{\kappa}{\alpha} P_{\alpha}(w) Q_{\alpha}(z) = \frac{1}{\kappa!} \sum_{\alpha \le \kappa} \frac{(\kappa - \alpha)!}{\alpha!} \cdot \frac{\partial^{\alpha} f}{\partial z^{\alpha}}(0, w) \cdot \frac{\partial^{\alpha} g}{\partial w^{\alpha}}(z, 0)$$

unless it is identically zero.

Proof. Suppose that f, g are as in part (a) of the corollary. Let

$$T: \mathbb{C}_{\beta}[z_1, \dots, z_n] \to \mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \dots, z_n] \text{ and } S: \mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \dots, z_n] \to \mathbb{C}_{\gamma}[z_1, \dots, z_n]$$

be the linear operators whose algebraic symbols with respect to \mathbb{H}_{θ} (cf. (3.1)) are f, respectively g, with $\beta, \gamma \in \mathbb{N}^n$ appropriately chosen. By Theorem 3.1 both S and Tpreserve \mathbb{H}_{θ} -stability, hence so does their (operator) composition ST whose symbol is precisely the polynomial in (a). Applying Theorem 3.1 again we conclude that this polynomial is \mathbb{H}_{θ} -stable unless it is of the form A(z)B(w) for some polynomials A and B. If this is the case and these polynomials are not identically zero then A(z) must be \mathbb{H}_{θ} -stable (being the polynomial P in part (a) of Theorem 3.1) and by exchanging the roles of f and g we get that B(w), thus also A(z)B(w), must be \mathbb{H}_{θ} -stable. This proves (a). Parts (b) and (c) follow similarly.

Example 1. Let us show how the classical (univariate) Schur-Maló-Szegö theorem can be easily derived from Corollary 3.4. If $\sum_{k=0}^{n} {n \choose k} a_k z^k$ and $\sum_{k=0}^{n} {n \choose k} b_k z^k$ are two polynomials with real zeros only and in addition all the zeros of the latter polynomial are non-positive then the bivariate polynomials

$$f(z,w) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} a_k z^k$$
 and $g(z,w) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} b_{n-k} z^{n-k} w^k$

are stable (note that f actually depends only on z). Corollary 3.4 (a) implies that the Schur-Maló-Szegö composition of the two given polynomials, i.e., the univariate polynomial

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} a_k b_k z^k$$

is also stable (that is, real-rooted).

Example 2. Theorems 3.11 and 4.6 in [8] (the former actually follows from the latter) provide some multivariate extensions of the classical composition results mentioned above. In particular, [8, Theorem 4.6] shows that the Weyl product of polynomials (defined via the product formula in the Weyl algebra) preserves

stability, that is, if f(z, w) and g(z, w) are stable polynomials in $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_n)$ and $w = (w_1, \ldots, w_n)$ then so is the polynomial

$$\sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n} \frac{(-1)^{\alpha}}{\alpha!} \frac{\partial^{\alpha} f}{\partial z^{\alpha}}(z, w) \cdot \frac{\partial^{\alpha} g}{\partial w^{\alpha}}(z, w).$$

To see that this is in fact a consequence of Theorem 3.3 (b) let $\kappa_N = (N, \ldots, N) \in \mathbb{N}^n$ and let f and g be stable polynomials as in the statement of Theorem 3.3. Then since stability is closed under scaling the variables with positive numbers the polynomial

$$H_N(u, v, z, w) = \sum_{\alpha \le \kappa} (-1)^{\alpha} \frac{(\kappa - \alpha)!}{\alpha!} \cdot \frac{\kappa_N^{\alpha}(\kappa_N - \alpha)!}{\kappa_N!} \cdot \frac{\partial^{\alpha} f}{\partial u^{\alpha}} (Nu, v) \cdot \frac{\partial^{\alpha} g}{\partial z^{\alpha}} (z, w)$$

is stable for large N. But then the polynomial

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} H_N(u/N, v, z, w) = \sum_{\alpha} \frac{(-1)^{\alpha}}{\alpha!} \frac{\partial^{\alpha} f}{\partial u^{\alpha}}(u, v) \cdot \frac{\partial^{\alpha} g}{\partial z^{\alpha}}(z, w)$$

is stable or identically zero, as claimed.

We conclude with one further consequence. For $t = (t_1, \ldots, t_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$ define the *t*-deformed Weyl product of f and g by

$$\sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n} \frac{(-1)^{\alpha} t^{\alpha}}{\alpha !} \frac{\partial^{\alpha} f}{\partial u^{\alpha}}(u,v) \cdot \frac{\partial^{\alpha} g}{\partial w^{\alpha}}(z,w).$$

Using again the fact that stability is closed under scaling the variables with positive constants we deduce from above that the *t*-deformed Weyl product preserves stability. As a special (univariate) case, note that if n = 1, t < 0 and $f \in \mathbb{R}[z] \setminus \{0\}$, $g \in \mathbb{R}[w] \setminus \{0\}$ have all real zeros then by the above the univariate polynomial

$$\sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{t^k}{k!} f^{(k)}(z) \cdot g^{(k)}(w) \big|_{w=z} = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{t^k}{k!} f^{(k)}(z) \cdot g^{(k)}(z)$$

has all real zeros. We thus recover de Bruijn's [11, Theorem 2] and [12, Lemma 1].

4. Hard Pólya-Schur Theory: Bounded Degree Multiplier Sequences

Using the characterization of linear operators preserving real stability obtained in [5] we can establish "hard" (bounded degree) multivariate versions of Pólya-Schur's classification of *multiplier sequences* [41] that extend the "soft" (unbounded degree) theorems of [8].

A sequence of real numbers $\{\lambda(k)\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is called a multiplier sequence if the linear operator on univariate polynomials defined by $T(z^k) = \lambda(k)z^k$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$, preserves real-rootedness, that is, $T(f) \in \mathcal{H}_1(\mathbb{R}) \cup \{0\}$ whenever $f \in \mathcal{H}_1(\mathbb{R})$. A multivariate multiplier sequence is then defined as a sequence $\{\lambda(\alpha)\}_{\alpha\in\mathbb{N}^n}$ of real numbers such that the linear operator $T : \mathbb{R}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] \to \mathbb{R}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ defined by $T(z^\alpha) =$ $\lambda(\alpha)z^\alpha, \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n$, preserves real stability, see [8]. These were characterized in [8] but here we will prove the corresponding "hard" theorems. Given $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}^n$ we say that a sequence $\{\lambda(\alpha)\}_{\alpha\leq\kappa}$ of real numbers is a κ -multiplier sequence if the linear operator $T : \mathbb{R}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] \to \mathbb{R}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ defined by $T(z^\alpha) = \lambda(\alpha)z^\alpha, \alpha \leq \kappa$, preserves real stability. This is the multivariate generalization of n-multiplier sequences [19].

Recall the following lemma from [5].

Lemma 4.1. Let $f, g \in \mathbb{R}[z_1, ..., z_n] \setminus \{0\}$, set h = f + ig and suppose that f and g are not constant multiples of each other. The following are equivalent:

- (1) h is stable;
- (2) $|h(z)| > |h(\bar{z})|$ for all $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n$ with $\operatorname{Im}(z_j) > 0, j \in [n]$, where $\bar{z} = (\bar{z}_1, \ldots, \bar{z}_n);$
- (3) $f + z_{n+1}g \in \mathcal{H}_{n+1}(\mathbb{C});$
- (4) f and g are stable and

$$\operatorname{Im}\left(\frac{f(z)}{g(z)}\right) \ge 0$$

whenever
$$z = (z_1, \ldots, z_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n$$
 with $\operatorname{Im}(z_j) > 0, j \in [n]$.

A polynomial $f \in \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] \setminus \{0\}$ is said to have the same-phase property if there exists $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ such that all the non-zero coefficients of $e^{-i\alpha}f$ are positive. The next lemma was first proved in [16, Theorem 6.1]. We will use it in the proof of Lemma 4.3 below and for completeness we provide here a self-contained proof based on our results so far.

Lemma 4.2. If $f \in \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] \setminus \{0\}$ is homogeneous of degree d and \mathbb{H}_{θ} -stable for some $\theta \in [0, 2\pi)$ then f has the same-phase property.

Proof. Note first that the assumptions of the lemma imply that f is $\mathbb{H}_{\theta'}$ -stable for any $\theta' \in [0, 2\pi)$. Without loss of generality we may also assume that $\partial_j f \neq 0$, where $\partial_j = \frac{\partial}{\partial z_j}$. We will now use induction on d. The statement is trivially true for d = 0 so suppose $d \geq 1$. Applying $\frac{\partial}{\partial t}$ to the identity $f(tz_1, \ldots, tz_n) = t^d f(z_1, \ldots, z_n)$ and setting t = 1 we get

$$f(z_1, \dots, z_n) = d^{-1} \sum_{j=1}^n z_j \partial_j f(z_1, \dots, z_n).$$
(4.1)

Each polynomial $\partial_j f$ is stable (e.g. by Theorem 3.1) and homogeneous of degree d-1. By the induction hypothesis there exists $\alpha_j \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $e^{-i\alpha_j}\partial_j f$ has all non-negative coefficients. In view of (4.1) it is therefore enough to show that $\alpha_j \equiv \alpha_k \mod 2\pi, j, k \in [n]$. For each $j \in [n]$ we get by Remark 3.1, Lemma 4.1 (3) \Leftrightarrow (4) and homogeneity that

$$\operatorname{Im}\left(\frac{\partial_j f(z)}{f(z)}\right) \le 0, \quad z = (z_1, \dots, z_n) \in \mathbb{H}_0^n, \tag{4.2}$$

and

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(\frac{\partial_j f(z)}{f(z)}\right) \ge 0, \quad z = (z_1, \dots, z_n) \in \mathbb{H}^n_{\frac{\pi}{2}}.$$
(4.3)

By continuity (4.2) also holds for all $z \in \mathbb{R}^n$ for which $f(z) \neq 0$. Using homogeneity we see that $\operatorname{Im}(\partial_j f(-z)/f(-z)) = -\operatorname{Im}(\partial_j f(z)/f(z))$ hence $\partial_j f(z)/f(z)$ is a real rational function. Since $e^{-i\alpha_j}\partial_j f(\zeta) \in \mathbb{R}$ we deduce that $e^{-i\alpha_j}f(\zeta) \in \mathbb{R}$ for $j \in [n]$ and $\zeta \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Now, from (4.3) with $z \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$ and the fact that $e^{-i\alpha_j}\partial_j f(z) > 0$ for all such z we conclude that $e^{-i\alpha_j}f(z) > 0$ whenever $z \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$, $j \in [n]$, and thus $\alpha_j \equiv \alpha_k \mod 2\pi, j, k \in [n]$, as required. \Box

Lemma 4.3. Let $f(z, w) = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n} a(\alpha) z^{\alpha} w^{\alpha} \in \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n, w_1, \ldots, w_n]$. Then f is stable if and only if it can be written as

$$f(z,w) = Cf_1(z_1w_1)\cdots f_n(z_nw_n),$$

where $C \in \mathbb{C}$ and $f_1(t), \ldots, f_n(t)$ are univariate real polynomials with real and non-negative zeros only.

Proof. The sufficiency part follows simply by noticing that if $\mu \leq 0$ then $\mu + zw$ is a stable polynomial in two variables.

Suppose that $f(z, w) = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n} a(\alpha) z^{\alpha} w^{\alpha}$ is stable. We claim that its support $J := \operatorname{supp}(f)$ has unique minimal and maximal elements with respect to the standard partial order on \mathbb{N}^n . Assume the contrary, let α, α' be two different minimal elements and let i, j be indices such that $\alpha_i > \alpha'_j$ and $\alpha_j < \alpha'_i$. By [13, Theorem 3.2] J is a jump system and since $\alpha'' = \alpha - e_i \notin J$, there is an index $k \neq i$ such that $\alpha'' + e_k \in J$. Let $g(z_i, w_i, z_k, w_k)$ be the polynomial

$$\frac{\partial^{\alpha''}}{\partial z^{\alpha''}} \frac{\partial^{\alpha''}}{\partial w^{\alpha''}} f\Big|_{z_{\ell}=w_{\ell}=0,\,\ell\notin\{i,k\}}$$

and set

$$h(z_i, w_i, z_k, w_k) = \lim_{\lambda \to 0^+} \lambda^{-2} g(\lambda z_i, \lambda w_i, \lambda z_k, \lambda w_k).$$

By Hurwitz' theorem (Theorem 1.5) h is a stable polynomial. However, by construction h is of the form $Az_iw_i + Bz_kw_k$ with $AB \neq 0$, which is a contradiction since polynomials of this type cannot be stable. This shows that J has a unique minimal element.

If f(z, 1) has degree at most κ_i in the variable $z_i, i \in [n]$, we may consider the stable polynomial $z^{\kappa}w^{\kappa}f(-z^{-1}, -w^{-1})$, where $\kappa = (\kappa_1, \ldots, \kappa_n), z^{-1} = (z_1^{-1}, \ldots, z_n^{-1})$ and similarly for w^{-1} . By the above the support of the latter polynomial has a unique minimal element, thus providing a unique maximal element for the support J of f.

Let now ξ, κ be the minimal, respectively maximal element of J and let T: $\mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] \to \mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ be the linear operator defined by

$$T[z^{\alpha}] = \lambda(\alpha) z^{\alpha} = (-1)^{\alpha} {\kappa \choose \alpha}^{-1} a(\alpha) z^{\alpha}, \quad 0 \le \alpha \le \kappa.$$

Let $\{e_j\}_{j=1}^n$ be the standard orthonormal basis of \mathbb{R}^n . We want to show that

$$\lambda(\alpha) = \lambda(\xi)^{-n+1}\lambda(\xi + (\alpha_1 - \xi_1)e_1)\cdots\lambda(\xi + (\alpha_n - \xi_n)e_n), \quad \xi \le \alpha \le \kappa.$$
(4.4)

This will then prove the necessity part since f will split into a product as in the statement of the lemma and the polynomials $f_j(t)$, $1 \le j \le n$, will have the desired properties since $f_j(z_j w_j)$ is necessarily stable.

To prove (4.4) note that the algebraic symbol of T is given by

$$G_T(z,w) = \sum_{\alpha \le \kappa} (-1)^{\alpha} a(\alpha) z^{\alpha} w^{\kappa-\alpha} = w^{\kappa} f(z, -w^{-1}),$$

which is stable. By Theorem 3.1 T preserves stability. Since $G_T(z, w)$ is homogeneous we may assume that $(-1)^{\alpha}a(\alpha) \geq 0$ for all α in view of Lemma 4.2. Now, it is easy to check that

$$a + bz + cw + dzw \in \mathbb{R}[z, w] \text{ is stable } \iff bc \ge ad$$
 (4.5)

(see, e.g., [13] or just adapt the arguments in the proof of Lemma 1.4) and of course

$$a + 2bz + cz^2 \in \mathbb{R}[z]$$
 is stable $\iff b^2 \ge ac.$ (4.6)

Let $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}^n$ and $1 \leq i, j \leq n$ be such that $\gamma + e_i + e_j \leq \kappa$. Applying T to the polynomials $z^{\gamma}(1+z_i)(1+z_j)$ and $z^{\gamma}(1-z_i)(1+z_j)$ and keeping (4.5) and (4.6) in

mind we see that $\lambda(\gamma)\lambda(\gamma + e_i + e_j) \ge \lambda(\gamma + e_i)\lambda(\gamma + e_j)$ and $\lambda(\gamma)\lambda(\gamma + e_i + e_j) \le \lambda(\gamma + e_i)\lambda(\gamma + e_j)$ hence

 $\lambda(\gamma)\lambda(\gamma+e_i+e_j) = \lambda(\gamma+e_i)\lambda(\gamma+e_j)$ whenever $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}^n$ and $\gamma+e_i+e_j \leq \kappa$. (4.7) From (4.7) and [13, Corollary 3.7] we deduce that $\lambda(\gamma) > 0$ for all $\xi \leq \gamma \leq \kappa$. The proposed formula (4.4) now follows by induction over $k := |\alpha| - |\xi|$.

Recall the following theorem from [5].

Theorem 4.4. Let $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}^n$ and $T : \mathbb{R}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] \to \mathbb{R}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ be a linear operator. Then T preserves real stability if and only if either

- (a) T has at most 2-dimensional range and is given by $T(f) = \alpha(f)P + \beta(f)Q$, where α, β are real linear forms on $\mathbb{R}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ and $P, Q \in \mathcal{H}_n(\mathbb{R})$ are such that $P + iQ \in \mathcal{H}_n(\mathbb{C})$, or
- (b) Either $T[(z+w)^{\kappa}] \in \mathcal{H}_{2n}(\mathbb{R})$ or $T[(z-w)^{\kappa}] \in \mathcal{H}_{2n}(\mathbb{R})$.

The "hard" multivariate version of Pólya-Schur's theorem [41] is as follows.

Theorem 4.5. Let $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}^n$, let $\lambda := {\lambda(\alpha)}_{\alpha \leq \kappa}$ be a sequence of real numbers and $T : \mathbb{R}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] \to \mathbb{R}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ be the corresponding linear operator. The following are equivalent:

- (a) λ is a κ -multiplier sequence;
- (b) $\pm \lambda$ is the product of one-dimensional κ_i -multiplier sequences that are either all alternating in sign or all non-negative, i.e.,

$$\pm \lambda(\alpha) = \lambda_1(\alpha_1) \cdots \lambda_n(\alpha_n), \quad \alpha \le \kappa,$$

where λ_i is a κ_i -multiplier sequence, $i \in [n]$, and either all λ_i 's are nonnegative or all are alternating in sign;

(c) Either $T[(z+w)^{\kappa}] \in \mathcal{H}_{2n}(\mathbb{R})$ or $T[(z-w)^{\kappa}] \in \mathcal{H}_{2n}(\mathbb{R});$

(d) $T[(z+w)^{\kappa}]$ or $T[(z-w)^{\kappa}]$ can be written as

$$f_1(z_1w_1)\cdots f_n(z_nw_n),$$

where $f_1(t), \ldots, f_n(t)$ are univariate polynomials with real zeros only, and all these zeros have the same sign (collectively).

Proof. This is an immediate consequence of Theorem 4.4 and Lemma 4.3. \Box

Remark 4.1. Note that the κ -multiplier sequences with constant sign are precisely the sequences whose corresponding operators preserve stability.

Corollary 4.6. Let $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}^n$, $\lambda := {\lambda(\alpha)}_{\alpha \leq \kappa}$ be a sequence of complex numbers and $T : \mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] \to \mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ be the corresponding linear operator. Then T preserves weak Hurwitz stability if and only if λ is (a constant complex multiple of) a non-negative κ -multiplier sequence.

Proof. By Theorem 3.1 T preserves weak Hurwitz stability if and only if the polynomial

$$T[(z+w)^{\kappa}] = \sum_{\alpha \le \kappa} \binom{\kappa}{\alpha} \lambda(\alpha) z^{\alpha} w^{\kappa-\alpha}$$

is weakly Hurwitz stable, which occurs exactly when

$$\sum_{\alpha \le \kappa} (-1)^{\alpha} \binom{\kappa}{\alpha} \lambda(\alpha) z^{\alpha} w^{\alpha}$$

is stable. The assertion now follows from Lemma 4.3 and Remark 4.1.

J. BORCEA AND P. BRÄNDÉN

5. Multivariate Apolarity

The goal of this section is to develop a higher-dimensional apolarity theory and establish Grace type theorems for arbitrary multivariate polynomials.

Two univariate polynomials $f(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} {n \choose k} a_k z^k$ and $g(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} {n \choose k} b_k z^k$ of degree at most n are *apolar* if

$$\{f,g\}_n := \sum_{k=0}^n (-1)^k f^{(k)}(0) g^{(n-k)}(0) = \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{k=0}^n (-1)^k \binom{n}{k} a_k b_{n-k} = 0.$$

Grace's classical applarity theorem is as follows [22, 35, 43, 57].

Theorem 5.1 (Grace). Let f and g be apolar polynomials of degree $n \ge 1$. If f has all zeros in a circular domain C then g has at least one zero in C.

Note that we may reformulate Grace's theorem as follows.

Theorem 5.2. Let f and g be polynomials of degree $n \ge 1$ and C be a circular domain. If f is C-stable and g is $\mathbb{C} \setminus C$ -stable then $\{f, g\}_n \neq 0$.

For two polynomials $f, g \in \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ and $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}^n$ define

$$\{f,g\}_{\kappa} := \sum_{\alpha \le \kappa} (-1)^{\kappa} f^{(\alpha)}(0) g^{(\kappa-\alpha)}(0)$$

and call f and g apolar if they both have degree at most κ and $\{f, g\}_{\kappa} = 0$.

Hinkkanen [25] wondered if Grace's theorem could be extended to several variables (he actually only considered multi-affine polynomials) but the precise form of such an extension remained uncertain. He also claimed that arguments due to Ruelle and Dyson [47, 50] could be extended to prove the following result.

Lemma 5.3. Let A and B be closed subsets of \mathbb{C} which do not contain the origin and let $f, g \in \mathbb{C}_{(1^2)}[z_1, z_2]$. If f is $A \times B$ -stable and g is $(\mathbb{C} \setminus A) \times (\mathbb{C} \setminus B)$ -stable then $\{f, g\}_{(1^2)} \neq 0$.

Lemma 5.3 is false, as one can see by considering for instance $f(z_1, z_2) = z_1 + z_2$, $g(z_1, z_2) = 1$, and $A = B = \{\text{Im}(z) \ge 1\}$. However, it holds under additional degree constraints (e.g. if both f ang g have total degree 2) which are tacitly assumed in [50, Footnote 7]. In [25] Hinkkanen also proposed two possible generalizations of Grace's theorem as the following questions.

Question 1 (Hinkkanen). Let A_i , $i \in [n]$, be closed subsets of \mathbb{C} that do not contain the origin and $f, g \in \mathbb{C}_{(1^n)}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$. If f is $A_1 \times \cdots \times A_n$ -stable and g is $(\mathbb{C} \setminus A_1) \times \cdots \times (\mathbb{C} \setminus A_n)$ -stable then $\{f, g\}_{(1^n)} \neq 0$.

Question 2 (Hinkkanen). Let C_i , $i \in [n]$, be closed circular domains and $f, g \in \mathbb{C}_{(1^n)}[z_1,\ldots,z_n]$. If f is $C_1 \times \cdots \times C_n$ -stable and g is $(\mathbb{C} \setminus C_1) \times \cdots \times (\mathbb{C} \setminus C_n)$ -stable then $\{f,g\}_{(1^n)} \neq 0$.

We will now see that these questions are not true in full generality, but if we strengthen the hypothesis slightly in the second question then it is true for arbitrary degree polynomials.

Note that if $f, g \in \mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ then

$$\{f,g\}_{\kappa}(z) := \sum_{\alpha \le \kappa} (-1)^{\alpha} f^{(\alpha)}(z) g^{(\kappa-\alpha)}(z)$$

is a constant function so in this case $\{f, g\}_{\kappa}(z) = \{f, g\}_{\kappa}$ for $z \in \mathbb{C}^n$. Elementary computations also yield the following.

Lemma 5.4. Let $\kappa = (\kappa_1, \ldots, \kappa_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$, $a_i, b_i, c_i, d_i \in \mathbb{C}$, $a_i d_i - b_i c_i = 1$, $i \in [n]$, $f, g \in \mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ and set

$$F(z) = (c_1 z_1 + d_1)^{\kappa_1} \cdots (c_n z_n + d_n)^{\kappa_n} f\left(\frac{a_1 z_1 + b_1}{c_1 z_1 + d_1}, \dots, \frac{a_n z_n + b_n}{c_n z_n + d_n}\right),$$

$$G(z) = (c_1 z_1 + d_1)^{\kappa_1} \cdots (c_n z_n + d_n)^{\kappa_n} g\left(\frac{a_1 z_1 + b_1}{c_1 z_1 + d_1}, \dots, \frac{a_n z_n + b_n}{c_n z_n + d_n}\right).$$

Then $\{f,g\}_{\kappa} = \{F,G\}_{\kappa}$.

Remark 5.1. Note that Lemma 5.4 asserts that the functional $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_{\kappa}$ is invariant under the action of the group of Möbius transformations normalized as in (1.3). For n = 1 this is quite well-known [43] and motivates the name "apolar invariant" for $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_{\kappa}$ which is classically used in invariant theory, umbral calculus, and the theory of algebraic curves [28, 44, 53].

Lemma 5.5. Let $f, g \in \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ and suppose that g has degree $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}^n$. If f is \mathbb{D} -stable and g is $\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{D}$ -stable then $\{f, g\}_{\kappa} \neq 0$.

Proof. Let

$$f(z) = \sum_{\alpha} a_{\alpha} z^{\alpha} \text{ and } g(z) = \sum_{\alpha} b_{\alpha} z^{\alpha}.$$

Then $h(z) := \sum_{\alpha} (-1)^{\alpha} b_{\kappa-\alpha} z^{\alpha}$ is $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$ -stable by Corollary 1.7. By compactness there is $\epsilon > 0$ such that $|h(z)| > \epsilon$ for $z \in \overline{\mathbb{D}}^n$. This means that there is $\delta > 0$ such that $\sum_{\alpha} (-1)^{\alpha} b_{\kappa-\alpha} (1+\delta)^{|\alpha|} z^{\alpha}$ is \mathbb{D} -stable. Then by applying Corollary 3.4 (c) to the \mathbb{D} -stable polynomials

$$\sum_{\alpha} a_{\alpha} z^{\alpha} w^{\alpha} \text{ and } \sum_{\alpha} (-1)^{\alpha} b_{\kappa-\alpha} (1+\delta)^{|\alpha|} z^{\alpha} w^{\alpha}$$

we deduce that the polynomial

$$F(z,w) := \sum_{\alpha} \frac{(-1)^{\alpha} a_{\alpha} b_{\kappa-\alpha} (1+\delta)^{|\alpha|}}{\binom{\kappa}{\alpha}} z^{\alpha} w^{\alpha}$$

is \mathbb{D} -stable or identically zero. The assumptions on f and g guarantee that $a_0b_{\kappa} \neq 0$, so F is \mathbb{D} -stable and

$$\{f,g\}_{\kappa} = \kappa! F((1+\delta)^{-1/2}, \dots, (1+\delta)^{-1/2}) \neq 0,$$

as claimed.

We find it most natural to state two applarity theorems: one for discs and exterior of discs (Theorem 5.6) and one for half-planes (Theorem 5.8).

Theorem 5.6. Let C_i , $i \in [n]$, be open discs or exterior of discs and let $f, g \in \mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$. Suppose that

- (i) f is $C_1 \times \cdots \times C_n$ -stable and $\deg_{z_j}(f) = \kappa_j$ whenever C_j is the exterior of a disk, and
- (ii) g is $(\mathbb{C} \setminus C_1) \times \cdots \times (\mathbb{C} \setminus C_n)$ -stable and $\deg_{z_j}(f) = \kappa_j$ whenever C_j is a disk.

Then $\{f, g\}_{\kappa} \neq 0$.

Proof. For $i \in [n]$ let Φ_i be a Möbius transformation $(a_i z + b_i)/(c_i z + d_i)$ as in (1.3) for which $\Phi_i(\mathbb{D}) = C_i$. By Lemma 1.8 the polynomial

$$F(z) := (c_1 z_1 + d_1)^{\kappa_1} \cdots (c_n z_n + d_n)^{\kappa_n} f(\Phi_1(z_1), \dots, \Phi_n(z_n))$$

is D-stable. Note that $-d_i/c_i \notin \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{D}$ since none of the C_i 's is a half-plane. The polynomial

$$G(z) := (c_1 z_1 + d_1)^{\kappa_1} \cdots (c_n z_n + d_n)^{\kappa_n} g(\Phi_1(z_1), \dots, \Phi_n(z_n))$$

is therefore $\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{D}$ -stable. By Lemma 1.8 the degree of g is precisely κ so Lemma 5.5 applies and by Lemma 5.4 we get $\{f, g\}_{\kappa} = \{F, G\}_{\kappa} \neq 0$.

The homogeneous part of a polynomial $f \in \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ is the polynomial f_H obtained by extracting the terms of maximum total degree, i.e.,

$$f_H(z_1,\ldots,z_n) = \lim_{t\to\infty} t^{-d} f(tz_1,\ldots,tz_n),$$

where $d = \max\{|\alpha| : \partial^{\alpha} f / \partial z^{\alpha} \neq 0\}.$

Lemma 5.7. Suppose $f \in \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ is \mathbb{H}_0 -stable and $i \in [n]$. Then

$$\left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial z_i}\right)_H = \frac{\partial f_H}{\partial z_i}$$

Proof. Suppose that f has total degree d. Clearly, it is enough to prove that either $\partial f/\partial z_i$ is identically zero or its total degree is d-1.

Assume that $\partial f/\partial z_i \neq 0$ and its total degree is d' < d - 1. By Remark 3.1 the polynomial $f + z_{n+1} \partial f/\partial z_i$ is \mathbb{H}_0 -stable. Consider now the univariate polynomials

$$p(z) = f(z, \dots, z) = f_H(1, \dots, 1)z^d + \dots,$$
$$q(z) = \frac{\partial f}{\partial z_i}(z, \dots, z) = \left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial z_i}\right)_H(1, \dots, 1)z^{d'} + \dots$$

These polynomials are of degree d and d' respectively, since the leading coefficients are non-zero by Lemma 4.2. Solving for z_{n+1} in $p(z) + z_{n+1}q(z) = 0$ we see that $\operatorname{Im}(p(z)/q(z)) \geq 0$ whenever $\operatorname{Im}(z) > 0$. This is a contradiction since $p(z)/q(z) = Cz^{d-d'} + o(z^{d-d'})$ when $z \to \infty$, where $C \neq 0$ and $d - d' \geq 2$.

Theorem 5.8. Let C_1 and C_2 be two open half-planes with non-empty intersection, $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}^n$, and $f, g \in \mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$. If f is C_1 -stable, g is C_2 -stable, and $\kappa \leq \alpha + \beta$ for some $\alpha \in \text{supp}(f), \beta \in \text{supp}(g)$, then $\{f, g\}_{\kappa} \neq 0$.

Proof. By an affine transformation of the variables we may assume that there is an $\epsilon > 0$ such that $f(z - i\varepsilon)$ and $g(-z + i\varepsilon)$ are \mathbb{H}_0 -stable, where $\varepsilon = (\epsilon, \ldots, \epsilon)$. Then so are the 2*n*-variable polynomials $f(z + w - i\varepsilon)$ and $g(-z - w + i\varepsilon)$ and by Corollary 3.4 also the polynomial

$$F(z,w) = \sum_{\alpha \le \kappa} (-1)^{\kappa - \alpha} f^{(\alpha)}(w - i\varepsilon) g^{(\kappa - \alpha)}(-z + i\varepsilon)$$

unless it is identically zero. If it is not identically zero then the conclusion of the theorem follows by setting $z = w = i\varepsilon$. To complete the proof we show that F(z, w) is not identically zero. Let $G_{\alpha}(z, w) = (-1)^{\kappa-\alpha} f^{(\alpha)}(w - i\varepsilon)g^{(\kappa-\alpha)}(-z + i\varepsilon)$. This polynomial is \mathbb{H}_0 -stable or identically zero (by Remark 3.1) and by Lemma 5.7 and Lemma 4.2 all non-zero coefficients in its homogeneous part have the same

phase as those in the homogeneous part of $f(w - i\varepsilon)g(-z + i\varepsilon)$. By the assumptions on the supports of f and g there is an α such that $G_{\alpha}(z, w) \neq 0$ so $\lim_{t\to\infty} t^{-d-e+|\kappa|}F(tz,tw) \neq 0$, where d and e are the total degrees of f and g, respectively. In particular, F(z, w) is not identically zero.

6. HARD LIEB-SOKAL LEMMAS

In [32, Proposition 2.2] Lieb and Sokal proved that the operation that replaces one variable with differentiation with respect to another variable preserves weak Hurwitz stability. This result played a key role in the study of Laplace transforms of Lee-Yang measures and the extensions of Newman's strong Lee-Yang theorem obtained in [32], see §8.1. It was also an essential ingredient in proving the sufficiency part of the classification theorems of [5].

The Lieb-Sokal result is a "soft" (transcendental/unbounded degree) result since it amounts to saying that the linear operator on $\mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ acting on monomials as

$$z^{\alpha} \mapsto (-1)^{\alpha_1} \cdot \frac{\partial^{\alpha_1}(z_2^{\alpha_2} z_3^{\alpha_3} \cdots z_n^{\alpha_n})}{\partial z_2^{\alpha_1}}, \quad \alpha = (\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n, \tag{6.1}$$

(which one may schematically represent as " $z_1 \mapsto -\partial/\partial z_2$ ") preserves (\mathbb{H}_0 -)stability, see Theorem 8.3 in §8.1.

By considering certain linear operators on finite-dimensional polynomial spaces we can establish "hard" versions of Lieb-Sokal's result.

Lemma 6.1. Let $n, d \in \mathbb{N}$ with $n \geq 2$ and let $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}^n$ be such that $\kappa_1 = \kappa_2 = d$. Define a linear operator $T_d : \mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] \to \mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ by

$$T_d(f) = \frac{1}{d!} \sum_{k=0}^d \frac{\partial^d f}{\partial z_1^k \partial z_2^{d-k}}$$

Then T_d preserves \mathbb{H}_{θ} -stability for any $0 \leq \theta < 2\pi$.

Proof. The symbol of T_d , i.e., the 2*n*-variable polynomial $T_d[(z+w)^{\kappa}]$ is given by

$$\frac{1}{d!}(z_3+w_3)^{\kappa_3}\cdots(z_n+w_n)^{\kappa_n}\sum_{k=0}^d\frac{d!}{(d-k)!}\frac{d!}{k!}(z_1+w_1)^{d-k}(z_2+w_2)^k$$
$$=(z_1+z_2+w_1+w_2)^d(z_3+w_3)^{\kappa_3}\cdots(z_n+w_n)^{\kappa_n}$$

which is \mathbb{H}_{θ} -stable. The conclusion follows from Theorem 3.1.

Remark 6.1. An interesting property of T_d is that $T_d(f)$ is actually a polynomial in the n-1 variables $z_1 + z_2, z_3, \ldots, z_n$ for any $f \in \mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$. Indeed, let $F(z_1, z_2, \ldots, z_n) = T_d(f)(z_1, z_2, \ldots, z_n)$. It is straightforward to show that

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}F(z_1+t,z_2-t,z_3,\ldots,z_n)=0, \quad t\in\mathbb{C},$$

and by letting $t = z_2$ we get $F(z_1 + t, z_2 - t, \dots, z_n) = F(z_1 + z_2, 0, \dots, z_n)$.

Using Lemma 6.1 and Remark 6.1 we deduce the following "hard" result that substantially improves (6.1) when the top degree is specified.

$$\Box$$

Corollary 6.2. Let $n, d \in \mathbb{N}$ with $n \geq 2$ and let $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}^n$ be such that $\kappa_1 = \kappa_2 = d$. Define linear operators $S_d, R_d : \mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] \to \mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ by

$$S_d\left[\sum_{k=0}^d z_1^k Q_k(z_2,\ldots,z_n)\right] = \frac{1}{d!} \sum_{k=0}^d k! \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial z_2}\right)^{d-k} Q_k(z_2,\ldots,z_n)$$

and

$$R_d\left[\sum_{k=0}^{d} z_1^k Q_k(z_2, \dots, z_n)\right] = \frac{1}{d!} \sum_{k=0}^{d} (-1)^k (d-k)! \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial z_2}\right)^k Q_k(z_2, \dots, z_n).$$

Then S_d and R_d preserve (\mathbb{H}_0 -)stability up to degree κ .

The above "hard" results do indeed imply the "soft" ones. To see this fix $\beta \in \mathbb{N}^n$ and set $(\beta)_{\alpha} = \alpha! \binom{\beta}{\beta-\alpha}$ for $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n$. In [5, Lemma 8.2] it was shown that the linear operator on $\mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ defined by $z^{\alpha} \mapsto (\beta)_{\alpha} z^{\alpha}$, $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n$, preserves stability. In particular, if $\sum_{k=0}^d z_1^k Q_k(z_2)$ is stable then $\sum_{k=0}^d \frac{z_1^k}{(d-k)!} Q_k(z_2)$ is stable and this extends to *n* variables. Therefore, the "soft" Lieb-Sokal result (respectively, Theorem 8.3) follows from Lemma 6.1 (respectively, Corollary 6.2).

7. TRANSCENDENTAL SYMBOLS AND THE WEYL ALGEBRA

Define the complex Laguerre-Pólya class $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_n(\mathbb{C})$ as the class of entire functions in *n* variables that are limits, uniformly on compact sets, of polynomials in $\mathcal{H}_n(\mathbb{C})$, see, e.g., [31, Chap. IX]. The usual (real) Laguerre-Pólya class $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_n(\mathbb{R})$ consists of all functions in $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_n(\mathbb{C})$ with real coefficients.

If $T : \mathbb{K}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] \to \mathbb{K}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$, where $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$ or \mathbb{C} , is a linear operator we define its *transcendental symbol*, $\overline{G}_T(z, w)$, to be the formal power series in w_1, \ldots, w_n with polynomial coefficients in $\mathbb{K}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ given by

$$\overline{G}_T(z,w) := \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n} (-1)^{\alpha} T(z^{\alpha}) \frac{w^{\alpha}}{\alpha!}.$$

By abuse of notation we write $\overline{G}_T(z, w) = T[e^{-z \cdot w}]$, where $z \cdot w = z_1 w_1 + \ldots + z_n w_n$. Let us recall from [5] the transcendental characterizations of complex, respectively real stability preservers.

Theorem 7.1. Let $T : \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] \to \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ be a linear operator. Then T preserves (\mathbb{H}_0 -)stability if and only if either

(a) T has range of dimension at most one and is given by $T(f) = \alpha(f)P$, where $\underline{\alpha}$ is a linear form on $\mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ and $P \in \mathcal{H}_n(\mathbb{C})$, or

(b)
$$G_T(z,w) \in \mathcal{H}_{2n}(\mathbb{C}).$$

Remark 7.1. From Theorem 7.1 one can easily deduce a characterization of linear operators preserving Ω -stability for any open half-plane Ω . For instance, the analog of Theorem 7.1 (b) for the open right half-plane $\mathbb{H}_{\frac{\pi}{2}}$ is that the *transcendental symbol of T with respect to* $\mathbb{H}_{\frac{\pi}{2}}$, i.e., the formal power series

$$T[e^{z \cdot w}] := \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n} T(z^\alpha) \frac{w^\alpha}{\alpha!},$$

defines an entire function which is the limit, uniformly on compact sets, of weakly Hurwitz stable polynomials.

Theorem 7.2. Let $T : \mathbb{R}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] \to \mathbb{R}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ be a linear operator. Then T preserves real stability if and only if either

- (a) T has at most 2-dimensional range and is given by $T(f) = \alpha(f)P + \beta(f)Q$, where α, β are real linear forms on $\mathbb{R}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ and $P, Q \in \mathcal{H}_n(\mathbb{R})$ are such that $P + iQ \in \mathcal{H}_n(\mathbb{C})$, or (b) Either $\overline{G}_T(z, w) \in \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{2n}(\mathbb{R})$ or $\overline{G}_T(z, -w) \in \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{2n}(\mathbb{R})$.

To illustrate the power of Theorems 7.1 and 7.2 we show that the main results of [8] for partial differential operators immediately follow from these two theorems. Recall that a (Weyl algebra) finite order linear partial differential operator with polynomial coefficients is an operator $T : \mathbb{K}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] \to \mathbb{K}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$, where $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ or \mathbb{R} , of the form

$$T = \sum_{\alpha \le \beta} Q_{\alpha}(z) \frac{\partial^{\alpha}}{\partial z^{\alpha}}, \tag{7.1}$$

where $\beta \in \mathbb{N}^n$ and $Q_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{K}[z_1, \ldots, z_n], \alpha \leq \beta$.

Theorem 7.3. Let $T : \mathbb{K}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] \to \mathbb{K}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$, where $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ or \mathbb{R} , be defined by (7.1) and set

$$F(z,w) = \sum_{\alpha \leq \beta} Q_{\alpha}(z) w^{\alpha} \in \mathbb{K}[z_1, \dots z_n, w_1, \dots, w_n].$$

Then

- (a) T preserves stability if and only if F(z, -w) is stable;
- (b) T preserves real stability if and only if F(z, -w) is real stable.

Proof. The (transcendental) symbol of T is given by

$$T[e^{-z \cdot w}] = e^{-z \cdot w} F(z, -w),$$

so (a) and (b) follow immediately from Theorems 7.1 and 7.2, respectively.

Remark 7.2. Theorem 7.3 was first established in [8, Theorems 1.2–1.3] by different methods. An interesting consequence noted in [8, Theorem 1.11] is that if a Weyl algebra operator T preserves (real) stability then so does its Fischer-Fock dual T^* . As shown in [8], this duality result is a powerful multivariate generalization of the classical Hermite-Poulain-Jensen theorem and Pólya's curve theorem [17, 43].

B. Applications

We will now apply the theory developed in Part A to show that (the key steps in) existing proofs and generalizations of the Lee-Yang and Heilmann-Lieb theorems follow in a simple and unified way from the characterizations of Ω -stability preservers in terms of operator symbols obtained in [5]. These results are due to Asano [2], Ruelle [45, 46, 51], Newman [37, 38], Lieb-Sokal [32], Hinkkanen [25], Choe et al [16], Wagner [59]. For brevity's sake, we will only focus on the main arguments used in deriving them and in some cases we point out possible extensions.

8. Recovering Lee-Yang and Heilmann-Lieb Type Theorems

Let us first recall the original version of the Lee-Yang theorem for the *partition* function of the ferromagnetic Ising model (at inverse temperature 1). This function may be written as

$$Z(h_1,\ldots,h_n) = \sum_{\sigma \in \{-1,1\}^n} \mu(\sigma) e^{\sigma \cdot h},$$

where $\sigma \cdot h = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sigma_i h_i$ and $\mu(\sigma) = e^{\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} J_{ij} \sigma_i \sigma_j}$.

Theorem 8.1 (Lee-Yang [30]). If $J_{ij} \ge 0$ for all $i, j \in [n]$ then

- (a) $Z(h_1,...,h_n) \neq 0$ whenever $\operatorname{Re}(h_i) > 0, 1 \leq i \leq n$;
- (b) All zeros of $Z(h, \ldots, h)$ lie on the imaginary axis.

Remark 8.1. In physical terms [3, 4, 30, 32, 56], the J_{ij} are ferromagnetic (≥ 0) coupling constants while the h_i are external (magnetic) fields sometimes also called fugacities. Theorem 8.1 (b) asserts that the zeros of the partition function of the ferromagnetic Ising model accumulate on the imaginary axis in the complex fugacity plane and a (first-order) phase transition occurs only at zero magnetic field.

Before we give a proof of the Lee-Yang theorem let us make a historical digression. In his work on the zeros of the Riemann zeta function Pólya was led to a simple yet useful result:

Lemma 8.2 (Pólya [39], Hilfssatz II). Let a > 0, $b \in \mathbb{R}$, and G(z) be a real entire function of genus 0 or 1 with at least one real zero and only real zeros. Then the function

$$G(z+ia)e^{ib} + G(z-ia)e^{-ib}$$

$$(8.1)$$

has only real zeros.

Hilfssatz II was subsequently employed by Kac [40, pp. 424–426] to settle a special case of Theorem 8.1 that proved to be inspirational for Lee and Yang's final proof [30] (cf. [5, Remark 4.2]). Recently, Lee-Yang type results and applications to Fourier transforms with all real zeros were obtained in [1, 14, 15] by iterating the process of Hilfssatz II. A simple proof of this result and multivariate extensions is as follows. Let R be the linear operator on formal power series in n variables with complex coefficients $f(z) = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n} a(\alpha) z^{\alpha}$ defined by

$$R\left(\sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n} a(\alpha) z^{\alpha}\right) = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n} \operatorname{Re}(a(\alpha)) z^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} \left(f(z) + \overline{f(\bar{z})} \right).$$

By Lemma 4.1 R maps the set of stable polynomials into the set of real stable polynomials and consequently also the complex Laguerre-Pólya class $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_n(\mathbb{C})$ (cf. §7) into the Laguerre-Pólya class $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_n(\mathbb{R})$. In the special case when n = 1 and G(z) is as in Lemma 8.2 it follows from Hadamard's factorization theorem that $G(z) \in \overline{\mathcal{H}}_1(\mathbb{R})$ hence $G(z + ia)e^{ib} \in \overline{\mathcal{H}}_1(\mathbb{C})$ and by the above

$$2R(G(z+ia)e^{ib}) = G(z+ia)e^{ib} + G(z-ia)e^{-ib} \in \overline{\mathcal{H}}_1(\mathbb{R}),$$

so the function in (8.1) has only real zeros. Note also that $e^{-iz} \in \overline{\mathcal{H}}_n(\mathbb{C})$ and thus $2R(e^{-iz}) = \cos(z) \in \overline{\mathcal{H}}_n(\mathbb{R}).$

More general versions of Theorem 8.1 were obtained in e.g. [32] and [38], see §8.1. For simplicity of argument and exposition we will concentrate for the moment just on the original Lee-Yang theorem and give a short proof based on the ideas in [32] combined with Theorem 7.1.

Proof of Theorem 8.1. Note that (b) follows from (a) by symmetry in $\sigma \mapsto -\sigma$. To prove (a) define \mathcal{M} to be the set of functions $\mu : \{-1,1\}^n \to \mathbb{C}$ whose Laplace transform

$$Z_{\mu} = \sum_{\sigma \in \{-1,1\}^n} \mu(\sigma) e^{\sigma \cdot h}$$

is the limit, uniformly on compact sets, of weakly Hurwitz stable polynomials (i.e., non-vanishing whenever all variables are in the open right half-plane $\mathbb{H}_{\frac{\pi}{2}}$).

Claim: Let $i, j \in [n]$ and $J_{ij} \geq 0$. If $\mu \in \mathcal{M}$ then $\tilde{\mu}_{ij} \in \mathcal{M}$, where

$$\tilde{\mu}_{ij}(\sigma) = \begin{cases} e^{J_{ij}}\mu(\sigma) \text{ if } \sigma_i = \sigma_j, \\ e^{-J_{ij}}\mu(\sigma) \text{ if } \sigma_i \neq \sigma_j. \end{cases}$$

Let us show that the claim implies the theorem. Indeed, if $\mu_0 : \{-1,1\}^n \to \mathbb{C}$ is such that $\mu(\sigma) = 1$ for all $\sigma \in \{-1,1\}^n$ then its Laplace transform Z_{μ_0} equals $(e^{h_1} + e^{-h_1}) \cdots (e^{h_n} + e^{-h_n})$. As noted above one has $\cos(z) \in \overline{\mathcal{H}}_n(\mathbb{R})$, which implies that $\mu_0 \in \mathcal{M}$ by a rotation of the variables. Then by successively applying to μ_0 the transformations defined above for all pairs $(i, j) \in [n] \times [n]$ one gets (a).

To prove the claim note that $Z_{\tilde{\mu}_{ij}} = T(Z_{\mu_0})$, where

$$T = \cosh(J_{ij}) + \sinh(J_{ij}) \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z_i \partial z_j}.$$

By Theorem 7.1 and Remark 7.1 the operator T preserves weak Hurwitz stability. Since T is a second order (linear) differential operator, by standard results in complex analysis we have that if $f_k \to f$ uniformly on compacts then $T(f_k) \to T(f)$ uniformly on compacts. This proves the claim.

8.1. Newman's Theorem and the Lieb-Sokal Approach. In [38] Newman proved a strong Lee-Yang theorem stating that the Lee-Yang property holds for one-component ferromagnetic pair interactions if and only if it holds for zero pair interactions. This theorem was subsequently generalized in [32] by Lieb and Sokal who showed that one-component ferromagnetic pair interactions are "universal multipliers for Lee-Yang measures" and established a similar result for two-component ferromagnets. Lieb-Sokal's key observation was that it would suffice to show that a certain linear differential operator preserves the Lee-Yang property, which they proved by reducing the problem to the following statement about polynomials.

Theorem 8.3 (Lieb-Sokal). Let $\{P_i(u)\}_{i=1}^m$ and $\{Q_i(v)\}_{i=1}^m$ be polynomials in n complex variables $u = (u_1, \ldots, u_n), v = (v_1, \ldots, v_n)$, and define

$$R(u, v) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} P_i(u)Q_i(v),$$
$$S(z) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} P_i(\partial/\partial z)Q_i(z)$$

where $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_n)$, $\partial/\partial z = (\partial/\partial z_1, \ldots, \partial/\partial z_n)$. If R is weakly Hurwitz stable (in 2n variables) then S is either weakly Hurwitz stable or identically zero.

Proof. Define a linear operator

$$T: \mathbb{C}[u_1, \ldots, u_n, v_1, \ldots, v_n] \to \mathbb{C}[u_1, \ldots, u_n, v_1, \ldots, v_n]$$

by letting

$$T(u^{\alpha}v^{\beta}) = \frac{\partial^{\alpha}}{\partial v_1^{\alpha_1} \cdots \partial v_n^{\alpha_n}} (v^{\beta}), \quad \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}^n,$$

and extending linearly. Clearly, the theorem is equivalent to proving that T preserves weak Hurwitz stability. By Theorem 7.1 and Remark 7.1 this amounts to showing that the formal power series

$$\overline{G}_T(u, v, \xi, \eta) = \sum_{\alpha, \beta} T(u^{\alpha} v^{\beta}) \frac{\xi^{\alpha} \eta^{\beta}}{\alpha! \beta!}$$

(i.e., the transcendental symbol for $\mathbb{H}_{\frac{\pi}{2}}$) defines an entire function which is the limit, uniformly on compact sets, of weakly Hurwitz stable polynomials. An elementary computation then yields

$$\overline{G}_T(u,v,\xi,\eta) = \prod_{i=1}^n \left(e^{\eta_i v_i} e^{\eta_i \xi_i} \right),$$

which satisfies the above requirement since $e^{zw} = \lim_{n \to \infty} (1 + zw/n)^n$.

8.2. The Schur-Hadamard Product and Convolution. The following version of Theorem 8.1 is usually referred to as the Lee-Yang "circle theorem", see, e.g., [25, 51].

Theorem 8.4. Let $A = (a_{ij})$ be a Hermitian $n \times n$ matrix whose entries are in the closed unit disk $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$. Then the polynomial

$$f(z_1,\ldots,z_n) = \sum_{S \subseteq [n]} z^S \prod_{i \in S} \prod_{j \notin S} a_{ij}$$

is \mathbb{D} -stable. In particular, $f(z, \ldots, z)$ has all its zeros on the unit circle.

Hinkkanen's proof [25] of Theorem 8.4 makes use of a composition theorem for the *Schur-Hadamard product* of multi-affine polynomials which is defined as follows: if $f(z) = \sum_{S \subseteq [n]} a(S) z^S$ and $g(z) = \sum_{S \subseteq [n]} b(S) z^S$ then

$$(f \bullet g)(z) = \sum_{S \subseteq [n]} a(S)b(S)z^S.$$

The next result is Hinkkanen's composition theorem [25, Theorem C].

Theorem 8.5. Let $f, g \in \mathbb{C}_{(1^n)}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$. If f, g are \mathbb{D} -stable then so is $f \bullet g$ unless it is identically zero.

Proof. Let g be a fixed \mathbb{D} -stable multi-affine polynomial in n variables and let T be the linear transformation on multi-affine polynomials in n variables given by $T(f) = f \bullet g$. Recall Theorem 3.2 (b). The symbol of T is

$$T\left[(1+zw)^{[n]}\right] = g(z_1w_1,\ldots,z_nw_n),$$

which is clearly \mathbb{D} -stable (in 2n variables). Theorem 3.2 yields the result.

Remark 8.2. The proof of Theorem 8.4 given in [25] is as follows. For $i, j \in [n]$ with i < j (note the typo " $i \neq j$ " in [25]) let

$$f_{ij}(z_1,\ldots,z_n) = (1+a_{ij}z_i+\overline{a_{ij}}z_j+z_iz_j)\prod_{k\in[n]\setminus\{i,j\}}(1+z_k).$$

It is not hard to see that f_{ij} is D-stable and by taking the Schur-Hadamard product of all these polynomials one gets

$$(f_{12} \bullet \cdots \bullet f_{(n-1)n})(z) = \sum_{S \subseteq [n]} z^S \prod_{i \in S} \prod_{j \notin S} a_{ij},$$

which is again \mathbb{D} -stable by Theorem 8.5.

Using Corollary 3.4 we can extend Hinkkanen's composition theorem to arbitrary (not necessarily multi-affine) D-stable polynomials:

Theorem 8.6. Let $f(z) = \sum_{\alpha \leq \kappa} {\kappa \choose \alpha} a(\alpha) z^{\alpha}$ and $g(z) = \sum_{\alpha \leq \kappa} {\kappa \choose \alpha} b(\alpha) z^{\alpha}$ be \mathbb{D} -stable polynomials. Then so is

$$(f \bullet g)(z) := \sum_{\alpha \le \kappa} \binom{\kappa}{\alpha} a(\alpha) b(\alpha) z^{\alpha}$$

unless it is identically zero.

Proof. Apply Corollary 3.4 (c) to the \mathbb{D} -stable polynomials f(z) and g(zw), where $zw = (z_1w_1, \ldots, z_nw_n)$.

Closely related to the Schur-Hadamard product is the *convolution operator* on multi-affine polynomials [16] defined as follows: if $f(z) = \sum_{S \subseteq [n]} a(S) z^S$ and $g(z) = \sum_{S \subseteq [n]} b(S) z^S$ then

$$(f \star g)(z) = \sum_{S,T \subseteq [n]} a(S)b(T)z^{S\Delta T},$$

where $S\Delta T = (S \cup T) \setminus (S \cap T)$. A corresponding composition result – this time for weak Hurwitz stability – is given in [16, Proposition 4.20].

Theorem 8.7. Let $f, g \in \mathbb{C}_{(1^n)}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$. If f, g are weakly Hurwitz stable then so is $f \star g$ unless it is identically zero.

Proof. Let g be a fixed $\mathbb{H}_{\frac{\pi}{2}}$ -stable multi-affine polynomial in n variables and let T be the linear transformation on multi-affine polynomials in n variables given by $T(f) = f \star g$. The symbol of T (cf. Theorem 3.1) is just

$$i^{n}T\left[(z+w)^{[n]}\right] = (z+w)^{[n]}g\left(\frac{1+z_{1}w_{1}}{z_{1}+w_{1}},\dots,\frac{1+z_{n}w_{n}}{z_{n}+w_{n}}\right).$$
(8.2)

Now if $u, v \in \mathbb{H}_{\frac{\pi}{2}}$ then also $u^{-1}, v^{-1}, u + v \in \mathbb{H}_{\frac{\pi}{2}}$ hence

$$\frac{1+uv}{u+v} = (u+v)^{-1} + \left(u^{-1} + v^{-1}\right)^{-1} \in \mathbb{H}_{\frac{\pi}{2}},$$

so that the polynomial in (8.2) is $\mathbb{H}_{\frac{\pi}{2}}$ -stable (in 2*n* variables). Theorem 3.1 again yields the desired conclusion.

8.3. Asano Contractions. Many known proofs of the Lee-Yang theorem are based on so-called *Asano contractions* or variations thereof [2, 49, 50, 51]. Let

 $f(z_1, \dots, z_n) = a(z_3, \dots, z_n) + b(z_3, \dots, z_n)z_1 + c(z_3, \dots, z_n)z_2 + d(z_3, \dots, z_n)z_1z_2$

be a polynomial in $n \ge 2$ variables which is multi-affine in z_1 and z_2 . The Asano contraction of f is

$$A(f)(z_1,...,z_n) = a(z_3,...,z_n) + d(z_3,...,z_n)z_1.$$

Note that A(f) does not depend on z_2 . The key fact used in the aforementioned proofs is a property of Asano contractions that may be stated as follows.

Lemma 8.8. Let
$$\kappa = (\kappa_1, \ldots, \kappa_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$$
 with $n \ge 2$ and $\kappa_1 = \kappa_2 = 1$. Then

 $A: \mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \dots, z_n] \to \mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \dots, z_n]$

is a linear operator that preserves \mathbb{D} -stability.

Proof. It is clear that A is linear. Its (algebraic) symbol is

$$A[(1+zw)^{\kappa}] = (1+zw)^{(\kappa_3,\dots,\kappa_n)}(1+z_1w_1w_2).$$

which is \mathbb{D} -stable, so the assertion follows from Theorem 3.2.

8.4. Multi-Affine Part and Folding mod 2. Recall that a matching in a graph G = (V, E) is a subset M of E such that no vertex of the graph (V, M) has degree exceeding one. The general version of the Heilmann-Lieb theorem on the *monomer*-*dimer model* is the following.

Theorem 8.9 (Heilmann-Lieb [23]). Let G = (V, E) be a loopless graph and define its matching polynomial with edge weights $\{\lambda_e\}_{e \in E}$ and vertex weights $\{z_i\}_{i \in V}$ as

$$M_G(z,\lambda) = \sum_{matchings \ M} \prod_{e=ij \in M} \lambda_e z_i z_j.$$

If $\lambda_e \geq 0$, $e \in E$, then $M_G(z, \lambda)$ is a weakly Hurwitz stable polynomial (in z).

In [16] and [56, \S 5] it was shown that the Lee-Yang and Heilmann-Lieb theorems can actually be given a unified combinatorial formulation and proof. The idea is to form the "test" polynomial

$$F_G(z,\lambda) = \prod_{e=\{i,j\}\in E} (1+\lambda_e z_i z_j)$$
(8.3)

associated to a graph G = (V, E), |V| = n, equipped with vertex weights $\{z_i\}_{i \in V}$ and non-negative edge weights $\{\lambda_e\}_{e \in E}$. This polynomial is weakly Hurwitz stable in the z_i 's and by applying to it appropriate linear operators one gets precisely the polynomials occurring in the Lee-Yang theorem and the Heilmann-Lieb theorem, respectively. Thus one only has to check that the linear operators used in this process preserve weak Hurwitz stability. These operators are defined as follows.

The linear operator MAP : $\mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] \to \mathbb{C}_{(1^n)}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ extracts the multiaffine part of a polynomial, that is, if $f(z) = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n} a(\alpha) z^{\alpha}$ then

$$MAP(f)(z) = \sum_{\alpha: \alpha_i \le 1, i \in [n]} a(\alpha) z^{\alpha}.$$

The transcendental symbol (see Remark 7.1) of MAP is

$$\sum_{\alpha: \alpha_i \le 1, i \in [n]} z^{\alpha} \frac{w^{\alpha}}{\alpha!} = (1 + zw)^{[n]}.$$

Clearly, this is a weakly Hurwitz stable polynomial. Theorem 7.1 and Remark 7.1 imply that MAP preserves weak Hurwitz stability. It is easy to see that

$$M_G(z,\lambda) = \mathrm{MAP}\left[F_G(z,\lambda)\right],\tag{8.4}$$

which yields the Heilmann-Lieb theorem.

The linear operator MOD : $\mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] \to \mathbb{C}_{(1^n)}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ "folds mod 2" the powers in the Taylor expansion of a polynomial, i.e., if $f(z) = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n} a(\alpha) z^{\alpha}$ then

$$\operatorname{MOD}(f)(z) = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n} a(\alpha) z^{\alpha \mod 2},$$

where $\alpha \mod 2 = (\alpha_1 \mod 2, \dots, \alpha_n \mod 2)$. The algebraic symbol of MOD (up to degree κ) with respect to the open right-half plane $\mathbb{H}_{\frac{\pi}{2}}$ (cf. Theorem 3.2) is

$$MOD[(1+zw)^{\kappa}] = 2^{-n}(1+w)^{\kappa}(1+z)^{[n]}\prod_{i=1}^{n} \left[1 + \left(\frac{1-w_i}{1+w_i}\right)^{\kappa_i}\frac{1-z_i}{1+z_i}\right].$$

If $\operatorname{Re}(\zeta) > 0$ then $|(1 - \zeta)/(1 + \zeta)| < 1$ so the above symbol is weakly Hurwitz stable. By Theorem 3.2 we conclude that MOD preserves weak Hurwitz stability. MOD is employed in [16, §4.8] to prove the Asano contraction lemma (Lemma 8.8) and thereby the Lee-Yang theorem as well (cf. §8.3 and [56, §5]).

8.5. Generalizations of the Heilmann-Lieb Theorem. It is natural to study graph polynomials with more general degree constraints than those defining the matching polynomial and to establish Heilmann-Lieb type theorems for such polynomials. This has been pursued by e.g. Ruelle [45, 46] and Wagner [58, 59]. If G = (V, E) is a graph with vertex set $V = \{v_1, \ldots, v_n\}$ we let deg $G \in \mathbb{N}^n$ be the degree vector of G, i.e., the *i*-th coordinate of deg G is the degree of v_i in G. Let $\kappa = (\kappa_1, \ldots, \kappa_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$ and suppose that deg $G \leq \kappa$. Then given degree weights $u : \mathbb{N}^{\kappa} \to \mathbb{C}$ and non-negative edge weights $\{\lambda_e\}_{e \in E}$ one may ask what are the non-vanishing properties of the polynomial

$$F_G(z,\lambda,u) = \sum_{H \subseteq E} \lambda^H u(\deg(V,H)) z^{\deg(V,H)}.$$
(8.5)

This question was considered by Wagner in [59]. When it comes to weak Hurwitz stability it is natural (and of course sufficient) to require that the linear "truncation" operator $T : \mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] \to \mathbb{C}_{\kappa}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ defined by $T(z^{\alpha}) = u(\alpha)z^{\alpha}$, $u(\alpha) \in \mathbb{C}$, $\alpha \leq \kappa$, preserves weak Hurwitz stability. Now these are precisely the multivariate multiplier sequences (up to degree κ) that were characterized in Corollary 4.6 of this paper as follows:

$$u(\alpha) = u_1(\alpha_1) \cdots u_n(\alpha_n), \quad \alpha \le \kappa,$$

where for each $i \in [n]$ the polynomial

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\kappa_i} \binom{\kappa_i}{k} u_i(k) z^k \tag{8.6}$$

has all real non-positive zeros. We thus recover the following generalization of the Heilmann-Lieb theorem due to Wagner [59], which extends a theorem of Ruelle [45]. By the necessity in Corollary 4.6 the theorem below is optimal.

Theorem 8.10 (Wagner [59]). Let G = (V, E) be a graph whose degree vector satisfies deg $G \leq \kappa$ and let $F_G(z, \lambda, u)$ and u be as in (8.5) and (8.6), respectively. If $\{\lambda_e\}_{e \in E}$ are non-negative edge weights then

- (a) $F_G(z, \lambda, u)$ is weakly Hurwitz stable considered as a polynomial in z;
- (b) All zeros of the univariate polynomial

$$\sum_{k=0}^{|E|} \left(\sum_{\substack{H \subseteq E \\ |H| = k}} u(\deg(V, H)) \lambda^H \right) t^k$$

are real and non-positive.

Proof. The first statement follows from Corollary 4.6 and the fact that the test polynomial defined in (8.3) is weakly Hurwitz stable. If we set all the z_j 's, $1 \le j \le n$, equal to -it we obtain the univariate polynomial (in t)

$$\sum_{k=0}^{|E|} \left(\sum_{\substack{H \subseteq E \\ |H| = k}} u(\deg(V, H))\lambda^H \right) (-1)^k t^{2k}$$

which is then real stable. Clearly, this forces the polynomial in (b) to have all zeros real and non-positive. $\hfill \Box$

Remark 8.3. In [59] Wagner also proves non-vanishing properties in sectors, which cannot be obtained by our methods. However, Theorem 8.10 is slightly more general in that we consider max-degree at every vertex (not uniform max-degree).

9. Appendix

We give here a simple proof of the fact that Sym can be viewed as a (convergent) infinite product of operations as those in Proposition 1.3. For $\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n$ define an operator $T_{\sigma} : \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n] \to \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ by

$$T_{\sigma}(f) = \frac{1}{|\langle \sigma \rangle|} \sum_{\tau \in \langle \sigma \rangle} \tau(f),$$

where $\langle \sigma \rangle$ is the subgroup of \mathfrak{S}_n generated by σ . Given $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}^n$ we write $\alpha \sim \beta$ if α is a rearrangement of β . If $f(z) = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n} a(\alpha) z^{\alpha} \in \mathbb{R}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ let the symmetry index of f be defined by $\mathfrak{s}(f) = \sum_{\alpha \sim \beta} |a(\alpha) - a(\beta)|$. For $f = g + ih \in \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ with $g, h \in \mathbb{R}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ we define its symmetry index as $\mathfrak{s}(f) = \mathfrak{s}(g) + \mathfrak{s}(h)$. Hence $\mathfrak{s}(f) = 0$ if and only if f is symmetric.

Lemma 9.1. Let
$$\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n$$
 and $f(z) = \sum_{\alpha} a(\alpha) z^{\alpha} \in \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$. Then

$$\mathfrak{s}(T_{\sigma}(f)) \le \mathfrak{s}(f) \tag{9.1}$$

with equality if and only if $a(\sigma(\alpha)) = a(\alpha)$ for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n$, i.e., $T_{\sigma}(f) = f$.

Proof. We may assume that $f \in \mathbb{R}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$. Since $\mathfrak{s}(\tau(f)) = \mathfrak{s}(f)$ for all $\tau \in \mathfrak{S}_n$ we have by the triangle inequality

$$\mathfrak{s}(T_{\sigma}(f)) = \sum_{\alpha \sim \beta} \frac{1}{|\langle \sigma \rangle|} \Big| \sum_{\tau \in \langle \sigma \rangle} a(\tau(\alpha)) - a(\tau(\beta)) \Big|$$

$$\leq \sum_{\alpha \sim \beta} \frac{1}{|\langle \sigma \rangle|} \sum_{\tau \in \langle \sigma \rangle} |a(\tau(\alpha)) - a(\tau(\beta))|$$

$$= \frac{1}{|\langle \sigma \rangle|} \sum_{\tau \in \langle \sigma \rangle} \mathfrak{s}(\tau(f))$$

$$= \mathfrak{s}(f)$$

with equality if and only if the following condition holds:

If
$$\alpha \sim \beta$$
 then $a(\tau(\alpha)) - a(\tau(\beta))$ have the same sign for all $\tau \in \langle \sigma \rangle$. (A)

Clearly, if $a(\sigma(\alpha)) = a(\alpha)$ for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n$ then equality holds in (9.1). On the other hand, if equality in (9.1) holds let $\beta = \sigma(\alpha)$ and assume that $a(\alpha) \ge a(\beta)$ (the case $a(\alpha) \le a(\beta)$ follows similarly). Then by (A) we have

$$a(\alpha) \ge a(\sigma(\alpha)), \quad a(\sigma(\alpha)) \ge a(\sigma^2(\alpha)), \quad \dots, \quad a(\sigma^{k-1}(\alpha)) \ge a(\alpha),$$

where k is the order of σ . Hence $\alpha \mapsto a(\alpha)$ is constant on $\langle \sigma \rangle$ -orbits, which completes the proof.

For $f \in \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ let

 $\mathcal{A}(f) = \{T_{\tau_k} \cdots T_{\tau_1}(f) : \tau_1, \dots, \tau_k \in \mathfrak{S}_n \text{ are transpositions}\}\$

and denote by $\overline{\mathcal{A}}(f)$ the set of polynomials that are limits, uniformly on compact sets, of polynomials in $\mathcal{A}(f)$.

Lemma 9.2. If
$$f \in \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$$
 then $\operatorname{Sym}(f) \in \overline{\mathcal{A}}(f)$.

Proof. We claim that the set $\mathfrak{s}(\overline{\mathcal{A}}(f)) := {\mathfrak{s}(g) : g \in \overline{\mathcal{A}}(f)}$ is closed. Suppose that $x_k \to x$ as $k \to \infty$, where $x_k = \mathfrak{s}(g_k)$ with $g_k \in \overline{\mathcal{A}}(f)$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $|\cdot|_r$ be the supremum norm on the ball of radius r in \mathbb{C}^n . If $\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n$ we have by the triangle inequality and invariance under permutations that $|T_{\sigma}(g)|_r \leq |g|_r$. It follows that $|h|_r \leq |f|_r$ for all $h \in \overline{\mathcal{A}}(f)$. Hence, by Montel's theorem, $\{g_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ forms a normal family so there is a subsequence converging uniformly on compacts to a polynomial $g \in \overline{\mathcal{A}}(f)$ with $\mathfrak{s}(g) = x$.

Hence $y := \inf \mathfrak{s}(\overline{\mathcal{A}}(f))$ is achieved for some $g \in \overline{\mathcal{A}}(f)$. If $\tau(g) \neq g$ for some transposition $\tau \in \mathfrak{S}_n$ then by Lemma 9.1 we have $\mathfrak{s}(T_{\tau}(g)) < \mathfrak{s}(g)$. However, one clearly has $T_{\tau}(g) \in \overline{\mathcal{A}}(f)$, which contradicts the minimality of $\mathfrak{s}(g)$. We deduce that $\tau(g) = g$ for all transpositions $\tau \in \mathfrak{S}_n$ and thus $g = \operatorname{Sym}(f)$ and $\mathfrak{s}(g) = 0$. \Box

Acknowledgments

We wish to thank the Isaac Newton Institute for Mathematical Sciences, University of Cambridge, for generous support during the programme "Combinatorics and Statistical Mechanics" (January–June 2008), where this work, [5] and [10] were presented in a series of lectures. Special thanks are due to the organizers and the participants in this programme for numerous stimulating discussions. We would also like to thank Alex Scott, Béla Bollobás and Richard Kenyon for the opportunities to announce these results in June–July 2008 through talks given at the Mathematical

Institute, University of Oxford, the Centre for Mathematical Sciences, University of Cambridge, and the programme "Recent Progress in Two-Dimensional Statistical Mechanics", Banff International Research Station, respectively.

References

- S. R. Adams, D. A. Cardon, Sums of entire functions having only real zeros, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 35 (2007), 3857–3866.
- T. Asano, Theorems on the partition functions of the Heisenberg ferromagnets, J. Phys. Soc. Japan 29 (1970), 350–359.
- [3] M. Biskup, C. Borgs, J. T. Chayes, R. Kotecky, Partition function zeros at first-order phase transitions: Pirogov-Sinai theory, J. Statist. Phys. 116 (2004), 97–155.
- [4] M. Biskup, C. Borgs, J. T. Chayes, L. J. Kleinwaks, R. Kotecky, Partition function zeros at first-order phase transitions: A general analysis, Comm. Math. Phys. 251 (2004), 79–131.
- [5] J. Borcea, P. Brändén, The Lee-Yang and Pólya-Schur programs. I. Linear operators preserving stability, arXiv:0809.0401.
- [6] J. Borcea, P. Brändén, Pólya-Schur master theorems for circular domains and their boundaries, Ann. of Math., to appear; arXiv:math/0607416.
- [7] J. Borcea, P. Brändén, Applications of stable polynomials to mixed determinants: Johnson's conjectures, unimodality, and symmetrized Fischer products, Duke Math. J. 143 (2008), 205–223.
- [8] J. Borcea, P. Brändén, Multivariate Pólya-Schur classification problems in the Weyl algebra, arXiv:math/0606360.
- J. Borcea, P. Brändén, G. Csordas, V. Vinnikov, Pólya-Schur-Lax problems: hyperbolicity and stability preservers, http://www.aimath.org/pastworkshops/polyaschurlax.html.
- [10] J. Borcea, P. Brändén, T. M. Liggett, Negative dependence and the geometry of polynomials, J. Amer. Math. Soc., to appear; arXiv:0707.2340.
- [11] N. G. de Bruijn, Some theorems on the roots of polynomials, Nieuw Arch. Wiskunde 23 (1949), 66–68.
- [12] N. G. de Bruijn, An analogue of Grace's apolarity theorem, Nieuw Arch. Wiskunde 23 (1949), 69–76.
- [13] P. Brändén, Polynomials with the half-plane property and matroid theory, Adv. Math. 216 (2007), 302–320.
- [14] D. A. Cardon, Fourier transforms having only real zeros, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 133 (2005), 1349–1356.
- [15] D. A. Cardon, Sums of exponential functions having only real zeros, Manuscripta Math. 113 (2004), 307–317.
- [16] Y. Choe, J. Oxley, A. Sokal, D. G. Wagner, Homogeneous multivariate polynomials with the half-plane property, Adv. Appl. Math. 32 (2004), 88–187.
- [17] T. Craven, G. Csordas, Composition theorems, multiplier sequences and complex zero decreasing sequences, in "Value Distribution Theory and Its Related Topics", G. Barsegian, I. Laine, C. C. Yang (Eds.), pp. 131–166, Kluwer Press, 2004.
- [18] T. Craven, G. Csordas, W. Smith, The zeros of derivatives of entire functions and the Pólya-Wiman conjecture, Ann. of Math. (2) 125 (1987), 405–431.
- [19] T. Craven, G. Csordas, Multiplier sequences for fields, Illinois J. Math. 21 (1977), 801-817.
- [20] G. Csordas, Linear operators and the distribution of zeros of entire functions, Complex Var. Elliptic Equ. 51 (2006), 625–632.
- [21] S. Fisk, Polynomials, Roots, and Interlacing. Versions 1-2, http://www.bowdoin.edu/fisk/, xx+700 pp.
- [22] J. H. Grace, The zeros of a polynomial, Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 11 (1902), 352–357.
- [23] O. J. Heilmann, E. H. Lieb, Theory of monomer-dimer systems, Comm. Math. Phys. 25 (1972), 190–232.
- [24] J. Helton, V. Vinnikov, Linear matrix inequality representation of sets, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 60 (2007), 654–674.
- [25] A. Hinkkanen, Schur products of certain polynomials, in "Lipa's Legacy: Proceedings of the Bers Colloquium", J. Dodziuk, L. Keenin (Eds.), Contemp. Math. 211, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1997, pp. 285–295.

- [26] A. Iserles, S. P. Nørsett, E. B. Saff, On transformations and zeros of polynomials, Rocky Mountain J. Math. 21 (1991), 331–357.
- [27] R. Kenyon, A. Okounkov, S. Sheffield, *Dimers and amoebae*, Ann. of Math. (2) 163 (2006), 1019–1056.
- [28] J. P. S. Kung, G.-C. Rota, The invariant theory of binary forms, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 10 (1984), 27–85.
- [29] G. F. Lawler, O. Schramm, W. Werner, Values of Brownian intersection exponents. I. Halfplane exponents, Acta Math. 187 (2001), 237–273; II. Plane exponents, ibid., 275–308.
- [30] T. D. Lee, C. N. Yang, Statistical theory of equations of state and phase transitions. II. Lattice gas and Ising model, Phys. Rev. 87 (1952), 410–419.
- [31] B. Ja. Levin, Distribution of Zeros of Entire Functions. Transl. Math. Monogr. Vol. 5, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1980.
- [32] E. H. Lieb, A. D. Sokal, A General Lee-Yang Theorem for One-Component and Multicomponent Ferromagnets, Comm. Math. Phys. 80 (1981), 153–179.
- [33] T. M. Liggett, Distributional limits for the symmetric exclusion process, Stoch. Proc. Appl., to appear; arXiv:0710.3606.
- [34] T. M. Liggett, Interacting Particle Systems. Springer, 1985.
- [35] M. Marden, The Geometry of the Zeros of a Polynomial in a Complex Variable. Math. Surveys Vol. 3, Amer. Math. Soc., New York, NY, 1949.
- [36] C. M. Newman, Gaussian correlation inequalities for ferromagnets, Z. Wahrscheinlichkeitstheorie und Verw. Gebiete 33 (1975), 75–93.
- [37] C. M. Newman, Inequalities for Ising models and field theories which obey the Lee-Yang theorem, Comm. Math. Phys. 41 (1975), 1–9.
- [38] C. M. Newman, Zeros of the partition function for generalized Ising systems, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 27 (1974), 143–159.
- [39] G. Pólya, Bemerkung über die Integraldarstellung der Riemannsche ξ-Funktion, Acta Math. 48 (1926), 305–317.
- [40] G. Pólya, Collected Papers, Vol. II: Location of Zeros. Mathematicians of our Time. Vol. 8 (R. P. Boas, ed.), The MIT Press, Cambridge, MA, 1974.
- [41] G. Pólya, I. Schur, Über zwei Arten von Faktorenfolgen in der Theorie der algebraischen Gleichungen, J. Reine Angew. Math. 144 (1914), 89–113.
- [42] G. Pólya, G. Szegö, Problems and Theorems in Analysis. Vol. II, Springer, Berlin, 1976.
- [43] Q. I. Rahman, G. Schmeisser, Analytic Theory of Polynomials. London Math. Soc. Monogr. (N. S.) Vol. 26, Oxford Univ. Press, New York, NY, 2002.
- [44] G.-C. Rota, Invariant theory, old and new, 2nd Colloquium Lecture, Annual AMS Meeting, Baltimore, 1997; http://www-math.mit.edu/~combin/archive/1992-1998/98a.html.
- [45] D. Ruelle, Counting unbranched subgraphs, J. Algebraic Combin. 9 (1999), 157-160.
- [46] D. Ruelle, Zeros of graph-counting polynomials, Comm. Math. Phys. 200 (1999), 43–56.
- [47] D. Ruelle, Grace-like polynomials, Foundations of computational mathematics (Hong Kong, 2000), pp. 405–421, World Sci. Publ. Co. Inc., River Edge, NJ, 2002.
- [48] D. Ruelle, Is our mathematics natural? The case of equilibrium statistical mechanics, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 19 (1988), 259–268.
- [49] D. Ruelle, Some remarks on the location of zeroes of the partition function for lattice systems, Comm. Math. Phys. 31 (1973), 265–277.
- [50] D. Ruelle, Extension of the Lee-Yang circle theorem, Phys. Rev. Lett. 26 (1971), 303-304.
- [51] D. Ruelle, Statistical Mechanics: Rigorous Results. Reprint of the 1989 edition, World Sci. Publ. Co. Inc., River Edge, NJ, 1999.
- [52] I. Schur, Zwei Sätze über algebraische Gleichungen mit lauter reellen Wurzeln, J. Reine Angew. Math. 144 (1923), 75–88.
- [53] N. I. Shepherd-Barron, Apolarity and its applications, Invent. Math. 97 (1989), 433-444.
- [54] A. D. Scott, A. D. Sokal, The repulsive lattice gas, the independent-set polynomial, and the Lovász local lemma, J. Stat. Phys. 118 (2005), 1151–1261; arXiv:cond-mat/0309352.
- [55] S. Smirnov, W. Werner, Critical exponents for two-dimensional percolation, Math. Res. Lett. 8 (2001), 729–744.
- [56] A. D. Sokal, The multivariate Tutte polynomial (alias Potts model) for graphs and matroids, in "Surveys in Combinatorics, 2005" (B. S. Webb, ed.), Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2005; arXiv:math.CO/0503607.

- [57] G. Szegö, Bemerkungen zu einem Satz von J. H. Grace über die Wurzeln algebraischer Gleichungen, Math. Z. 13 (1922), 28–55.
- [58] D. G. Wagner, Multipartition series, S.I.A.M. J. Discrete Math. 9 (1996), 529–544.
- [59] D. G. Wagner, Weighted enumeration of spanning subgraphs with degree constraints, preprint arXiv:0803.1659.
- [60] J. L. Walsh, On the location of the roots of certain types of polynomials, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 24 (1922), 163–180.
- [61] C. N. Yang, T. D. Lee, Statistical theory of equations of state and phase transitions. I. Theory of Condensation, Phys. Rev. 87 (1952), 404–409.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, STOCKHOLM UNIVERSITY, SE-106 91 STOCKHOLM, SWEDEN *E-mail address*: julius@math.su.se

Department of Mathematics, Royal Institute of Technology, SE-100 44 Stockholm, Sweden

E-mail address: pbranden@math.kth.se